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FROM THE CHAIR 
 

 
 

 
Pleasingly, significant progress has been made against these strategic priorities.  The Safe Ship 
Management (SSM) development project is well underway and will continue to improve the 
structure and delivery of the SSM system.  Maritime New Zealand (MNZ) has worked closely with 
industry to provide strong leadership to ensure that safety standards are not compromised.  
Following extensive consultation with industry, key changes have been made to MNZ’s direct 
and indirect charges to ensure the financial sustainability of MNZ.  These changes were 
approved by Cabinet in May 2008 and are expected to be implemented in late 2008. 
 
The policy of the Authority to visit different maritime centres and meet with local maritime 
stakeholders continued during 2007/08.  The Authority held its May 2008 meeting in Napier. This 
visit included a meeting with the senior management team of the Port of Napier, followed by a tour 
of the port facilities.  We also met with Coastguard representatives and a broad range of members 
from the maritime sector.  It was an interesting and rewarding day for everyone.  Such visits help 
provide a deeper understanding of the issues facing the industry. 
 
The past year has seen us continue our work with the Ministry of Transport (MoT) and other 
transport Crown agencies with respect to the New Zealand Transport Strategy.  During the year 
MNZ has actively contributed to the Transport Sector Strategic Directions work programme 
through our Maritime Rules programme.  We have also worked with the MoT to support its Sea 
Change Strategy which it released in April 2008.  Much of this work is of an ongoing nature and 
aims to achieve an affordable, integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport system. 

I thank my fellow Authority members for their work and willingness to always provide 
constructive debate and support during the year.  I also thank MNZ staff for their commitment 
and hard work.  I would like to acknowledge the leadership of Catherine and her executive team. 
I believe that MNZ is in a strong position going forward to meet the challenges of the future. 
 
 

 
 
Susie Staley 
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand 
 
 
 

This year we have focussed our attention on achieving progress against our 
strategic priorities.  The Authority sees the achievement of these priorities as 
vital to the organisation’s future ability to fulfil its core functions.  



 5 

DIRECTOR’S REVIEW 
 
 

 
 
 
MNZ fully supports the Sea Change Strategy released by the Government in April 2008 which 
has the goal to increase the amount of freight carried by commercial shipping from the current 
15 percent to 30 percent by 2040.  In the last year MNZ has issued guidance on safety 
standards for large coastal passenger and cargo ships operating exclusively within the coastal or 
offshore limits.  Crewing standards are being dealt with on a case by case basis through the 
minimum safe crewing assessments required by maritime rules.  MNZ is actively involved in the 
MoT’s Workforce initiative which has been established under the Sea Change Strategy to ensure 
there is a viable workforce to support the anticipated growth in coastal shipping. 
 
The National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy was published in March 2008.  With at least 20,000 
people who begin boating each year and over one million participants who take to the water 
annually the task of educating the recreational boating public is a daunting one.  MNZ works with 
all community groups, principally in a national co-ordination role to ensure safety messages are 
consistent and relevant, and to avoid duplication of effort, given the wide number of 
organisations working in the sector.  A close relationship with regional councils has developed 
through having joint stands with consistent messages at boatshows, and through regional and 
national Pleasure Boat Safety forums.  
 
Since the introduction of the New Zealand Pleasure Boating Strategy, the annual boating toll has 
dropped by around 50% (an average of nine lives saved each year over the last three years).  
Additional funding is needed in order to regain the momentum of the safety awareness 
campaigns and prevent a reversal in the annual boating toll. 
 
It has indeed been a year of change, challenge and commitment for our MNZ staff who have 
shown remarkable resilience and fortitude with a demanding work load in response to changing 
needs in the maritime industry. It is an honour and privilege to work alongside a team of 
proactive and passionate people who are committed to continually improving safety, security 
and environmental protection in the maritime sector. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catherine Taylor 
Director, Maritime New Zealand 
 
 
 
 

I am pleased to present this Annual Report.  During this year we have 
worked extensively with the maritime industry.  The industry is 
characterised by a wide range of activity and participants – from large 
merchant ships servicing New Zealand’s international trade, to 
commercial fishing, inter-island ferry services, recreational boating and 
adventure tourism.  Given the challenges MNZ faces with limited 
capacity, we have accomplished some major achievements that brings 
us closer to our vision of ensuring the marine environment remains safe, 
secure and clean. 
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YEAR IN REVIEW 

Progress on strategic priorities 
Four key strategic priorities were identified in MNZ’s 2007/10 Statement of Intent (SOI).  
Progress made on each of these strategic initiatives is summarised below:  
 
1 Safe Ship Management (SSM) - The aim of this project is to improve the structure and 

delivery of the SSM system.  Workshops were held during the year with key stakeholders 
involved in interpreting SSM rules to improve understanding of documentation 
requirements and ensure consistent application of SSM rules across the country.   

 
Feedback requested from the maritime industry and other stakeholders on how the SSM 
system could be improved resulted in the identification of a number of service delivery 
options which will be further developed in 2008/09. 

 
2 Compliance policy - Significantly more resources were required on the SSM project than 

originally anticipated.  Work on the development of a transparent and consistent 
compliance policy was therefore delayed.  This work is expected to commence later in 
2008 once additional resources, currently committed to the SSM project, are released. 

 
3 Recruitment, retention and development strategies -  

� recruitment policy, procedures and guidelines were developed and are expected to 
be finalised early in July 2008  

� an action plan to enhance staff retention was developed and will be presented to 
staff later in October 2008 

� a training module within Human Resources Information System (HRIS) was 
developed and is expected to be implemented by December 2008.   

 
4 Review of MNZ direct and indirect charges - proposed changes to the marine safety 

charge (MSC) were discussed with the maritime industry and feedback taken into account 
in preparing a cabinet paper on direct and indirect charges.  Cabinet approved the revised 
charges structure in May 2008 with implementation expected to occur later in 2008. 

 

Key achievements 
A summary of the key achievements progressed during the 2007/08 financial year were: 

� MNZ developed and issued guidance on safety standard requirements for large coastal 
passenger and cargo ships operating exclusively within New Zealand’s coastal or offshore 
limits, to support the Government’s Sea Change Strategy released in April 2008. 

� MNZ was elected to the International Maritime Organization (IMO) Council in November 
2007. 

� The National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy was published in March 2008. 

� A new television commercial for recreational boaties was developed to raise awareness 
that having communications equipment that works in an emergency is a critical safety 
measure. 

� Development of fatigue guidelines for the maritime industry.  

� Development and implementation of Marine Protection Rule – Part 200 that covers 
discharge management plans for offshore production platforms. 

� Implementation of a single Business Continuity Plan for all of MNZ. 

� Development of a sustainable business strategy covering initiatives for procurement 
policies, energy efficiency, waste minimisation and workplace travel plans. 
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Service performance 
The 2007/08 maritime and marine protection rules programme was progressed in accordance 
with MoT agreed timeframes.  Ten rules were completed during the year.  At 30 June 2008 five 
were with the Regulations Review Committee, two were awaiting signature of the Minister and 
three had been formally approved. 
 
A summary of key service performance results are outlined below: 

� A total of 77% of MNZ’s service performance targets were either met or exceeded.1 

� A low close out rate of corrective actions arising from audits of SSM companies (45% 
compared to a target of 100%) was partly due to issues pertaining to one specific SSM 
company.  An independent review of this company is currently underway to determine the 
appropriate regulatory action required to remedy this. 

� The percentage of corrective actions from initial audits of SSM vessels (59%) was 
significantly lower than the target of 95% for the year.  This was due to a large number of 
the corrective actions issued being minor in nature and more appropriately should have 
been categorised as recommendations or observations. 

� The target of risk profiling all foreign vessels entering New Zealand was not achieved.  It 
has become apparent that risk profiling an estimated 1600 foreign vessels per annum is 
not possible with current resources available.  As a consequence of this, the target has 
been changed to 55% of all foreign vessels per annum in MNZ’s 2008/11 Statement of 
Intent.  

� Two new targets were introduced to measure the number and quantity of oil in water 
discharges from off-shore oil production platforms. The introduction of these new targets 
reflects the tighter restrictions placed on oil production platforms to report any release of 
oil in water above 100ppm (parts per million) as an oil spill. 

� A policy change requiring flag state inspections to be carried out twice yearly rather than 
annually, meant that the target of 14 for the year was exceeded by 93%. 

 

Financial performance 
MNZ has continued to maintain a tight reign on expenditure during the 2007/08 financial year, 
but despite this recorded a consolidated deficit of $633,000.  This was caused mainly by a 
significant increase in search and rescue costs incurred by the Rescue Coordination Centre.  In 
addition, MNZ’s key strategic initiative - SSM development, required more resources than 
originally anticipated.  This expenditure was considered necessary to achieve the right outcome 
for MNZ and the maritime Industry. 

This is the first set of financial statements prepared by MNZ as required under the New Zealand 
International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 
 
 
 

                                                      
1 Note that six of the targets were not measured during the 2007/08 financial year 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 

Statutory role and responsibility 
Maritime New Zealand (MNZ) is a Crown entity established in August 1993 as the Maritime 
Safety Authority (MSA) and renamed with effect from 1 July 2005.  The objective of MNZ as 
prescribed in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA) is to:  

“undertake its safety, security, marine protection, and other functions in a way that 
contributes to the aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive, and sustainable 
transport system.” (s430). 

 

Principal services provided by MNZ 
Set out below are the principal services that MNZ has a statutory requirement to provide: 
 

� promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment in New 
Zealand and beyond, in accordance with New Zealand’s international obligations 

� develop maritime safety and marine protection rules 

� license ships, their operation and their crews 

� maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships 

� conduct safety inspections of New Zealand ships and of foreign ships calling at New 
Zealand ports 

� administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 for ships 

� provide and operate lighthouses and other navigation aids for ships on the New Zealand 
coast 

� provide an appropriate coastal and long-range maritime distress and safety radio 
communication system 

� manage New Zealand’s ship and port security system and investigate and review maritime 
security breaches and incidents 

� administer international obligations of the Crown under the treaties, memoranda and other 
maritime agreements listed in the Output Agreement with the Minister of Transport 

� investigate and analyse maritime accidents and accident trends  

� educate the maritime community about safety and environmental standards and best 
practice 

� manage and co-ordinate Class III search and rescue (SAR) 

� maintain the New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy and National Contingency Plan 

� administer the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 

� advise the Minister on technical maritime safety policy 

� represent New Zealand’s interests in international maritime forums such as the International 
Maritime Organization (IMO). 

 
MNZ staff also oversee services provided by organisations under contract or delegated authority, 
principally in the areas of marine radio services for communicating distress messages and safety 
information to and from ships at sea, maintenance of aids to navigation and the Safe Ship 
Management (SSM) system that replaced the traditional survey of ships in 1998. 
 
MNZ develops, on behalf of the MoT, draft maritime and marine protection rules and delegated 
technical standards legislation provided for under the Maritime Transport Act 1994. Other 
Ministerial services include technical advice on maritime safety and environmental protection 
issues, advice on Ministerial correspondence, parliamentary questions and industry liaison.   
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The professional skills and qualifications of the staff cover a range of disciplines. Uniquely, the 
number of staff with seagoing backgrounds makes MNZ the biggest New Zealand employer of 
professionally qualified seafarers outside the shipping industry.    
 

Accountability 
Under the Crown Entities Act 2004, MNZ is a statutory entity established under the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994.  MNZ is a Crown Agent, and must give effect to government policy when 
directed to do so by the responsible Minister.  While MNZ’s authority and accountability is based 
on these two Acts, it also has additional authority sourced in the following legislation: 

� Maritime Security Act 2004: MNZ undertakes the activities necessary for the effective 
implementation of the International Ship and Port Facility Code. 

� Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990: MNZ is responsible for providing Class III 
search and rescue on a 24 hour per day, seven day a week basis. 

� Section 28B of the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992: MNZ is responsible for 
administering the Act on board ships and for ships as places of work. 

� Ship Registration Act 1992: MNZ is required to maintain a New Zealand register of ships. 
 
Under the Crown Entities Act 2004, MNZ is required to produce an annual Statement of Intent, 
which includes the Authority’s strategic objectives over the next three year period. MNZ is also 
required to provide an Annual Report to Parliament.  
 
In addition to these legislative provisions, MNZ must report against an annual output agreement 
with the Minister of Transport. This agreement covers the agreed expectations about what 
outputs (services) will be delivered by MNZ during the financial year, how effective delivery of 
these services will be measured, and the related requirements for MNZ to report to the Minister 
on a quarterly basis.  
 

Role of the authority 
The Maritime Transport Act 1994 provides for a five-member Board (known as the Authority) 
appointed in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004. 
 
The role of the Authority is to:  

� set strategic direction and develop policy 

� appoint the chief executive for MNZ 

� monitor the performance of the Crown entity and the chief executive 

� ensure compliance with the law, accountability documents and relevant Crown 
expectations 

� maintain appropriate relationships with the Minister, Parliament and the public. 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises all Authority members, the Director of 
MNZ, the General Manager Corporate Services, and the Manager Planning and Risk Assurance. 
 
The purpose of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is to ensure: 

� the robustness of risk management systems, processes and practices 

� the independence and adequacy of the internal audit function 

� compliance with applicable regulations, standards and best practice guidelines. 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee meets on a quarterly basis. 
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Role of the Director 
Under the Maritime Transport Act, the Director of MNZ is a statutory officer with certain 
independent functions (from members of the Authority and the Minister) and specific powers 
concerning: 

� granting of maritime or marine protection documents 

� suspension of maritime or marine protection documents 

� revocation of maritime or marine protection documents  

� granting of exemptions 

� the enforcement of the provisions of the MTA and any other Act including: 

o to exercise control over entry into the maritime transport system through the 
granting of maritime documents and marine protection documents 

o to take such action as appropriate to enforce the provisions of the Maritime 
Transport Act or any other Act, and of regulations and rules made under the 
Maritime Transport Act or any other Act, including the carrying out or requiring of 
inspections and audits 

o to monitor adherence, within the maritime transport system, to any regulatory 
requirements relating to 

- safety and security, including (but not limited to) personal security 

- access and mobility 

- public health 

- environmental sustainability 

- any other matter. 
 
The Director has the specific functions: 

� to ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the improvement 
and development of its safety and security 

� to promote compliance with safety and maritime pollution standards in the maritime 
transport system. 

 
The Director has a key role in planning responses to marine oil spills and in the investigation of 
accidents, incidents or mishaps resulting in serious harm to people, property or the environment. 
 
Many of the powers vested in the Director under the Act may be delegated to MNZ officials with 
appropriate experience and qualifications.  The Director can delegate any powers to external 
persons (excluding the power to revoke documents) but retains ultimate responsibility for all 
delegated activities. The Director cannot delegate outside MNZ the power to: 
 
� suspend or revoke documents for unpaid fees 

� suspend seafarers from employment at sea 

� detain ships, maritime products or marine protection products 

� issue infringement notices. 
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Conflict of interest 
MNZ actively identifies and manages conflicts of interest to ensure that its business is carried out 
in a transparent and fair manner. Authority members and staff must declare all interests which 
may conflict with their duties. A Register of Interests is maintained by the General Manager, 
Human Resources. 
 

Corporate vision and business philosophy 
MNZ’s corporate vision and business philosophy is based upon the statutory objective stated in 
Section 430 of the MTA.  
 

Vision 
Safe, secure and clean seas. 
 

Mission statement 
To lead and support the maritime community to take responsibility for ensuring safe, secure and 
clean seas. 
 

Service charter 
A service charter is required under Section 437 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.  The charter 
covers the standard of service which the public can expect to receive, a complaints procedure, 
remedies should the standards of service not be met, and provision for the appointment of an 
independent person to assist in the resolution of disputes.  MNZ’s charter can be viewed on 
MNZ’s website.  
 

Guiding principles 
MNZ has developed principles that define how the organisation will meet its vision, mission and 
expectations contained in the service charter.  These overarching principles can be broken down 
to two areas: MNZ’s work environment and people. 
 

Work environment 
� Leadership - provide leadership to promote safety, security and marine protection. 

� Standards - establish standards that are appropriate to the risk generated by the activity. 

� Monitor - actively monitor adherence to regulatory requirements to ensure people involved 
in maritime activities are responsible for their actions. 

� Educate - inform, educate and promote safe, secure and clean seas. 

� Legal - work in accordance with MNZ’s statutory responsibilities and legal obligations. 

� Empower - provide a framework to empower teams to make decisions to ensure timely 
and effective response efforts. 

� Support - provide appropriate systems and tools to support the work MNZ does. 

� Compliance - use appropriate regulatory tools to manage compliance. 

� Partnership - work with the maritime community to achieve effective outcomes. 

� Investigate - to learn and not tolerate reckless behaviour. 
 

People 
� Ethics - act with integrity and professionalism. 

� Respect - treat others with respect and act consistently and fairly. 

� Leadership - are skilled and trained to provide robust, credible leadership and support. 

� Expertise - are valued and recognised for their skills, expertise and experience. 

� Innovation - are listened to and ideas for innovation and improvement sought.
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PROGRESS ON STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
In MNZ’s 2007/10 Statement of Intent MNZ outlined four key strategic priorities it desired to 
focus on over a three year period.   Progress on these initiatives during the 2007/08 year are 
outlined below: 
 

1 Enhance the sustainability and effectiveness of the 
Safe Ship Management (SSM) system 
Good progress was made on the SSM development project, MNZ’s number one 
strategic priority for the next two to three years.  The aim of the project is to continue to 
improve the structure and delivery of the SSM system, which involves MNZ working 
closely with the maritime industry and providing strong leadership to ensure that safety 
standards are not compromised. 
 
During the year MNZ held a series of nationwide workshops with SSM surveyors and 
MNZ maritime safety inspectors and auditors.  The workshops focused on improving 
understanding of documentation requirements and ensuring rules administered under 
the system were being consistently applied. 
 
Feedback requested from the maritime industry and other stakeholders resulted in the 
identification of a number of SSM service delivery options.  A review of these options in 
consultation with the industry will occur in 2008/09. 
 
The commitment to improving the SSM system reinforces a range of initiatives MNZ is 
undertaking with the industry’s support, such as the FishSAFE2 programme, which has 
resulted in a 50% reduction in the number of accident claims from the sector since its 
introduction. 
 

2 Ensure MNZ is transparent and consistent in its 
compliance role 
Significantly more resources were required on the SSM project than originally 
anticipated.  Work on the development of a transparent and consistent compliance 
policy was therefore delayed.  This work is expected to commence later in 2008 once 
additional resources, currently committed to the SSM project, are released. 

 

3 Recruitment, retention and development strategies 
A recruitment policy, procedures and guidelines are continuing to be developed and 
linked to the MNZ Guiding Principles.  This will be finalised later in 2008.  
 
An action plan to enhance staff retention is being developed by a staff working group 
(comprising a representative cross section of MNZ staff).  It is intended to present this 
action plan to staff in October 2008. 
 
The development and review of learning, training and development strategies has been 
delayed due to staff resourcing within the Human Resources team. Implementation of a 
training module within the Human Resources Information System (HRIS) is expected to 
be implemented by December 2008. 
 

                                                      
2 An industry-led body focused on improving safety outcomes in the commercial fishing fleet. 
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Two senior MNZ managers have attended a strategic leadership programme run by the 
Institute of Strategic Leadership during 2007/08. It is planned that other managers at a 
senior level will be sent on this programme, with the aim of fostering the development of 
future leaders within MNZ. 

 

4 Complete a review of MNZ direct and indirect 
charges 
An independent review of MNZ carried out in 2006 by PricewaterhouseCoopers and 
Thompson Clarke Shipping found, amongst other things, that significant changes 
needed to be made to funding arrangements across a range of services to ensure the 
sustainability of MNZ’s operations going forward. 
 
In December 2007 a discussion document outlining the proposed changes to the marine 
safety charge (MSC) was distributed to all interested and affected parties.  This was 
followed up in January 2008 with presentations held in Auckland, Wellington and 
Christchurch.  Feedback from industry was taken into account and this was reflected in 
the Cabinet paper that was approved in May 2008. 
 
Key changes to the MSC included moving from gross tonnage to deadweight tonnage for 
some sectors and introducing the concept of a passenger levy (based on passenger 
capacity) for cruise ships and interislander ferries. 
 
In addition to changes to the MSC, the discussion document also outlined a proposed 
increase in charges for shipping registration and licensing activities, as the cost of 
providing these services had not been reviewed for some time. 
 
The respective changes to the regulations are in the process of being drafted with the new 
rates for the MSC expected to be implemented later in 2008. 
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS AND EVENTS 
The maritime industry is characterised by a wide range of activity and participants – from large 
merchant ships servicing New Zealand’s international trade, to commercial fishing, inter-island 
ferry services, recreational boating and adventure tourism.  The depth and breath of the industry 
combined with MNZ’s limited resources and capability means that at times, it can be extremely 
challenging for MNZ to progress its vision of ensuring the marine environment remains safe, 
secure and clean. 
 
MNZ has made significant contributions in the maritime sector during 2007/08.  Following are 
some of the key achievements progressed during the year.  
 

Coastal shipping 
MNZ fully supports the Sea Change Strategy released by the Government in April 2008 which 
has the goal to increase the amount of freight carried by commercial shipping from the current 
15% to 30% by 2040.   
 
Maritime rules currently require compliance to full international safety standards, and almost full 
international crewing standards for ships longer than 45 metres (load line length) operating 
beyond the limit of the Territorial Sea (restricted limits).   Such high standards may be an 
impediment to the introduction of ships that are solely dedicated to the New Zealand coastal 
trade. 
 
In addressing this matter, MNZ has issued guidance on safety standards for passenger and 
coastal cargo ships greater than 45 metres in length that operate exclusively within coastal or 
offshore limits.  Crewing standards are being dealt with on a case by case basis through the 
minimum safe crewing assessments required by maritime rules.  MNZ is actively involved in the 
MoT’s Workforce initiative which has been established under the Sea Change Strategy to ensure 
there is a viable workforce to support the anticipated growth in coastal shipping. 
 
Subject to government approving changes to the marine safety charge in 2008/09, MNZ intends 
to commence a review of maritime licences and qualifications as well as providing input into the 
Government’s coastal shipping strategy, which will further help shape and stimulate coastal 
shipping around New Zealand. 

Election to the International Maritime Organization 
Council 
MNZ was elected to the IMO Council in 2007, which will give Pacific nations a stronger voice on 
global maritime issues. 
 
The IMO is a specialist agency of the United Nations, charged with developing and promoting 
common international standards of maritime safety, security and marine environment protection.  
While New Zealand has been an active and respected member of the IMO since 1960, this is the 
first time it has been elected to the Council, which supervises the work of the organisation and 
ensures that its strategic goals are met. 
 
Membership on the Council means that New Zealand will be able to increase its influence in 
ensuring that the international standards of maritime safety, security and environmental 
protection continue to be met.  
 
New Zealand has considerable expertise to offer the Council, particularly in the area of Coastal 
State responsibilities and the work New Zealand has been doing in raising issues about maritime 
bio-security, such as the spread of invasive pests through bio-fouling of ships. 
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New Zealand Pleasure Boating Strategy 
The National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy was published in March 2008. It reviewed the 
reasons for successful safe boating campaigns from 2003 to 2006 and the reports of all fatal 
boating accidents between 2000 and 2006. The analysis provided clear evidence on which to 
update the safety strategy and develop new initiatives for the coming years. Almost all fatalities 
for the period involved one or more of four key factors: 

� failure to wear a lifejacket in boats under six-metres in length  

� inability to communicate distress after an immersion accident  

� bad weather, sea or wave conditions  

� overuse of alcohol.  
 
The key recommendations flowing from the review included: 

� a continuation of the national safety awareness programme 

� default wearing of lifejackets in craft under 6 metres 

� mandatory carriage of communication equipment 

� mandatory alcohol limits for skippers 

� fitting buoyancy to provide level flotation 

� petrol tax funding for safety programmes 

� additional enforcement of rules and bylaws. 
 
The National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum met in June with a renewed sense of purpose now 
that its strategy has been published. One of the key outcomes of the meeting was the decision 
to form a small working group to develop a plan to implement the strategy. The draft 
implementation plan will be presented to the forum when it next meets in November 2008.  
 
With at least twenty thousand people who begin boating each year and over one million 
participants who take to the water annually the task of educating the recreational boating public 
is a daunting one. MNZ works with all community groups, principally in a national co-ordination 
role to ensure safety messages are consistent and relevant, and to avoid duplication of effort, 
given the wide number of organizations working in the sector. A close relationship with regional 
councils has developed through having joint stands with consistent messages at boatshows, 
and through regional and national Pleasure Boat Safety forums.  
 
Since the introduction of the New Zealand Pleasure Boating Strategy in the summer of 2002/03, 
the annual boating toll has dropped by around 50% (an average of nine lives saved each year 
over the last three years – see graph on following page).  However, sponsorship that has helped 
fund those campaigns has dried up and additional funding is needed in order to regain the 
momentum of the safety awareness campaigns and prevent a reversal in the annual boating toll. 
 

Stay on Top public awareness campaign 
A new television commercial for recreational boaties was developed to raise awareness that 
having communications equipment that works in an emergency is a critical safety measure.  This 
commercial was aired at periods of peak boating activity between October 2007 and March 
2008 and was backed up by print material. The previous safety campaigns have promoted the 
wearing of lifejackets and checking the marine weather. 
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Recreational Boating Fatalit ies
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  Source: MNZ 2008 
 

Health and safety 
In May 2003 the Government designated MNZ to administer the provisions of the Health and 
Safety in Employment Act 1992 (HSE Act) in respect of the maritime sector, specifically for ships.  
The scope of the designation is to administer the HSE Act for work onboard ships and for ships 
as places of work.  Coverage now includes not only seafarers on New Zealand ships but all 
those who are onboard, eg pilots, ships' agents, stevedores, provedores, surveyors and 
contractors. 
 
Of particular concern to MNZ is the steady increase in reported incidences of serious harm in the 
maritime industry as can be seen in the graph below. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Source: MNZ 2008 
 
The maritime industry is made of up of predominantly small business operators (83% are single 
owner/operators).  Faced with increased compliance costs, reduced income, a challenging 
working environment (where the weather can change quickly and the hours are long) the 
likelihood of accidents, serious harm injuries and fatalities is increasing. 
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Despite the trend of increases in serious harm injuries over the last six years, MNZ is working 
with industry and government agencies to proactively address work place injuries. An example of 
this is FishSAFE, an industry/government partnership formed in 2004 to promote safety within 
the commercial fishing industry.  Health and safety workshops were launched in May 2006 using 
material written by inshore fishermen for inshore fishermen. Combining free mentoring and 
working one-on-one, FishSAFE’s aim is to increase the level of safety on board boats. So far, 
over 620 individual fishers from over 420 boats have been through the workshops.   
 
The programme has now been extended to the aquaculture and factory vessels and MNZ is 
looking at implementing a similar approach throughout the rest of the maritime industry. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  Source ACC 2008 
 
Since the FishSAFE programme commenced, results show over a 50% reduction in ACC claims 
for serious harm since 2003 in the coastal fishing sector.  ACC contributed $560,000 over 3 
years to establish the programme, however, there is now a lack of funding to maintain the gains 
made in the fishing industry and indeed extend the approach across other sectors of the 
maritime industry. 
 

Heath and Safety initiatives for the stevedoring industry  
In July 2007 MNZ hosted an industry working group to consider safety initiatives to reduce the 
rate of fatalities, injuries and accidents to stevedores while working on board ships in New 
Zealand ports. MNZ is responsible for administering health and safety for this work, with the 
Department of Labour responsible for all other port activities. 
 
There have been three fatalities and 71 serious injuries to persons engaged in stevedoring 
operations over the past four years. MNZ is to establish a steering committee in 2008 to address 
critical safety issues, including fatigue, drugs and alcohol in the work place and potentially, 
obtaining agreement to a minimum safety standard for stevedoring operations in New Zealand. 
 

Fatigue resources 
Fatigue is a common experience for New Zealand seafarers contributing to a higher death and 
injury rate compared to other workforces. MNZ undertook a project to examine fatigue in the 
maritime sector and provide support to the sector to begin to address the problem. The result of 
the project is a suite of resources aimed at three different audiences: safe ship management 
companies, MNZ inspectors and large operators; commercial vessel owners and skippers, crew 
and their families. The resources were published in September 2007 and are now being 
progressively introduced throughout the sector via a training programme. 

New Claims by Volume and Expenditure for Coastal 
Fishing Vessels
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Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code   
Good progress was made with the implementation of the NZ Port and Harbour Marine Safety 
Code during the year.  Following approval of the country’s first harbour Safety Management 
System (SMS) in July 2007, in accordance with the Code, MNZ has now approved a further three 
SMSs.  Another six have been submitted to MNZ at various stages of development for review and 
comment. 
 
The MOT released a public discussion paper on Port and Harbour and Navigation Safety in late 
2007.  Following analysis of submissions on the paper, Cabinet in early July 2008 agreed in 
principle to future provisions in the Maritime Transport Act (MTA) to provide further legislative 
support for the Code.  The provisions will consolidate the regulation of navigation safety within the 
MTA.  They will extend MNZ’s powers of inspection and audit to the operation of port facilities, 
place responsibilities on port operators with respect to harbour safety, and clarify functions and 
duties of regional councils in respect of navigation safety.  Drafting of amendments is expected to 
commence in late 2008 with the aim of having the bill included on the legislative programme for 
2009. 
   

Kotuku report 
In April 2008, the Transport Accident Investigation Commission (TAIC) released its findings into 
the sinking of the fishing vessel Kotuku in which six people lost their lives when the vessel 
overturned in Foveaux Straight in May 2006.  
 
The report highlighted a number of factors that contributed to the accident which everyone in the 
maritime industry could learn from and highlighted specific elements of the SSM system needing 
improvement.  MNZ has accepted all the safety recommendations arising out of the TAIC report 
and is committed to continued improvement in the SSM system, a key strategic priority for the 
organisation over the next three years.  
 

Marine environment protection 

Taranaki oil spill 
An oil spill, estimated to be in the order of 23,000 litres or 23 tonnes was discovered along a 
10km stretch of coastline on 23 October 2007 north and south of Okato.  Taranaki Regional 
Council managed the response effort, assisted by Australian Worldwide Exploration (AWE) 
Limited employees and MNZ.   
 
The spill was investigated by MNZ confirming that the source of the discharge was from the 
floating production and storage vessel Umuroa operated by Prosafe Limited under contract to 
Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited (AWE).  AWE publically admitted liability for the spill.   
 
Charges under Section 237 of the MTA were laid by MNZ against Prosafe and AWE for 
discharging a harmful substance into the sea.  The defendants pleaded guilty to the charges and 
the sentence is awaited. 
 

Offshore production platforms 
The Marine Protection Rule - Part 200 that affects offshore production platforms came into effect 
on 14 December 2007 after a 12 month transition period for “controlled offshore installations” to 
convert older contingency plans into newer discharge management plan criteria. 
 
To compare discharge management plans against physical processes and operating 
procedures, MNZ conducted audits of Umuroa and Maui A and B during the period 18-22 
February 2008. The installations were audited against their Part 200 discharge management 
plan.  All three installations were operating in accordance with best practice, although some 
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minor areas for improvement were identified. Shell Todd Oil Services Limited (STOS) operators of 
Maui A and B are now reinjecting discharged production water into previously used production 
wells, as a means of reaching the standards required by the Rule. 
 
This is the first time MNZ has undertaken audits of offshore installations and expert assistance 
was sought from MarineTech Consultants Pty Ltd of Australia.  Auditing of offshore installations 
is now programmed as a regular activity given the likelihood of further growth in offshore 
exploration activities. 
 

Class III search and rescue operations 
MNZ, through its joint maritime and aviation Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand (RCCNZ), 
is responsible for the co-ordination of Class III search and rescue (SAR) in one of the world’s 
largest search and rescue regions. This area, which is approximately 8 million square miles, 
extends from just south of the equator to the South Pole and from half way to Chile in the east to 
halfway to Australia in the west. 
 
During 2007/08 RCCNZ was involved in responses to 1125 SAR incidents, a slight decrease on 
the previous year.  Significant incidents included the crash of a glider during an international 
event in the South Island in which the foreign pilot lost his life, the rescue of 10 foreign crew from 
a trimaran 80 nautical miles east of Dunedin, the crash of a light aircraft in the Southern Alps in 
which two foreign pilots lost their lives, and long range medical evacuations of injured crew from 
foreign fishing vessels. 

The trends for increasing use of 406 MHz distress beacons (75%) and decreasing use of 121.5 
MHz beacons (28%) continues, with a consequent decrease (17%) in the number of 
incidents involving distress beacons that could not be resolved.
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CAPABILITY AND SUPPORT SYSTEMS 

Our people 
At 30 June 2008 MNZ had 108.5 full-time equivalents (FTEs) based in its Wellington office and 
10 regional offices, 8.3 staff in the Marine Pollution Response Service at Te Atatu and 17 staff in 
the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand based at Lower Hutt.  A work place profile of 
MNZ as at 30 June 2008 is outlined below: 
 
MNZ Workplace Profile 
 

As at 30 June 08 
Numbers 

As at 30 June 08 
Percent 

Staff numbers 
FTE’s 
Head Count 

 
133.8 
141 

 
- 
- 

Gender 
Male 
Female 

 
93 
48 

 
66 
34 

Senior Management 
Male 
Female 

 
4 
3 

 
57 
43 

Management  
Male 
Female 

 
8 
3 

 
73 
27 

Age 
Under 20 
20-29 
30-39 
40-49 
50-59 
Over 60 
Undeclared 

 
3 

15 
28 
36 
36 
18 
5 

 
  2 
10 
20 
26 
26 
13 
  3 

 

Good employer principles  
MNZ has a clear policy on Equal Employment Opportunities (EEO) and ensures that all 
employees are treated fairly and are encouraged to achieve their full potential. 
 
MNZ has embraced the State Services Commission’s seven key good employer principles.   
Activities undertaken against the seven key principles in the 2007/08 year are summarised 
below.   
 
Principle MNZ activity 

Leadership, 
accountability and 
culture 

� Strategic direction (vision, mission and guiding principles) 
developed in consultation with staff and Board 

� Staff survey held in December 2007 with feedback provided to 
staff on strengths and areas for organisational development 

� Focus of staff conference held in February 2008 on themes 
identified in staff survey and staff input sought into MNZ 
development 

� Team comprising representational cross-section of MNZ staff 
established charged with taking outputs of staff conference and 
developing an action plan for the organisation 
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Principle 
 

MNZ activity 

Recruitment, 
selection and 
induction 

� Fair and unbiased recruitment and selection processes  

� Induction process provided for all staff involving input from all 
areas of MNZ held six times during 2007/08 year 

Employee 
development and 
promotion 

� Training and development opportunities available for all staff 

� Promotion based on merit 

� All jobs advertised internally  

� Secondment opportunities provided to staff both within MNZ and 
with external organisations  

Flexibility and work 
design 

� Flexibility with work locations considered in line with job 
attributes and employee needs 

� Major regional offices linked with video conferencing facilities  

� Ergonomic workstation assessments undertaken for all new staff 
by qualified professional and recommendations implemented 

Remuneration, 
recognition and 
conditions  

� Job evaluation undertaken by independent specialist provider for 
all new/amended roles within MNZ 

� External benchmarking of MNZ remuneration at an organisational 
and individual level via an independent specialist provider 

� Income protection and life insurance cover available for staff 

Harassment and 
bullying prevention 

� Employee code of conduct and relevant policies (eg harassment) 
available to all staff via the Intranet 

� Trained harassment contact officers available to staff 

Safe and healthy 
environment 

� Focus on employee heath, safety and wellbeing via a range of 
support services including employee assistance programme 
(Thinkwell) 

� WSMP accreditation maintained  

� Flu vaccinations made available for all staff 

� Health and safety inductions for all new staff 

� Regular meetings of the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Team 

 

Business continuity planning 
A comprehensive single Business Continuity Plan (BCP) for all of MNZ was implemented May 
2007, replacing18 outdated separate business unit plans and was further updated in September 
2007. 
 
In October 2007 three workshops were held for MNZ Resumption Teams to practice using the 
Plan. The workshops comprised a collective review of the Plan followed by testing the Plan through 
a tabletop exercise.  The objectives of the workshops were twofold:  

1 generate feedback on ways to improve the Plan  

2 introduce the BCP to those who will be tasked with implementing it. 
 
The workshops were well received, and feedback proved useful in extending the thinking of 
Resumption Teams about the business continuity needs of MNZ and in increasing familiarity with 
the BCP. The workshops highlighted areas of focus for the next stage of developing MNZ’s 
business continuity capability.   
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Business sustainability 
In keeping with the direction set by the Government for sustainable practices across the public 
sector, MNZ is committed to minimising waste and conserving consumption of energy and 
resources. 
 
MNZ is currently developing comprehensive action plans, baseline measures and performance 
targets to implement new initiatives and measure progress in waste recycling, carbon reduction 
and energy saving.   
 

Govt3 programme 
MNZ is a member of the Ministry for the Environment’s Govt3 programme, which aims to improve 
the sustainability of business operations within government departments and Crown entities. 
Through this ongoing programme MNZ is committed to: 
 
� the implementation of the Government’s sustainable development policies (for example, the 

Sustainable Development Programme of Action, the National Energy Efficiency and 
Conservation Strategy, and the New Zealand Waste Strategy 

� the use of government purchasing power to promote sustainable practice and achieve value 
for money 

� improvements in energy efficiency, and reducing the Government’s emission of greenhouse 
gases  

� monitoring, improving, reporting and celebrating success in the sustainability of Government 
activities.  

 

2007/08 Objective and result 
The objective for the 2007/08 year was to reduce the amount of landfill from Optimation House 
by encouraging staff to reuse, reduce, and recycle waste.  A target was set to reduce the waste 
going to the landfill by 50% as at 30 June 2008.   
 
A waste audit was conducted and the results showed that MNZ achieved an 88% reduction in 
the waste going to landfill.  
 

Other achievements 
MNZ has already actively participated where able in Govt3 initiatives prior to signing up as a 
member of Govt3. These include:  

� nominating a senior staff member to act as a principal point of contact for Govt3 and lead 
the sustainability activity in MNZ 

� reporting annually on core indicator areas 

� favouring environmentally sustainable products with greater energy efficiency — where 
cost and function are equivalent over product lifetime 

� where possible favouring products which can meet the product specification of the 
government’s eco-label, Environmental Choice New Zealand, or which can demonstrate 
that they meet equal or better standards 

� participating in Govt3 networks, training, forums, working groups, and case studies as 
MNZ deems appropriate. 

 
 



 24 

MNZ Sustainable Business Strategy 
A MNZ Sustainable Business Strategy has been developed, which forms MNZ’s action plan for 
the next three years. It outlines a general direction and priorities for each of the next three years. 
This allows efforts to be concentrated, rather than spread thinly over a large number of areas.  
 
Due to the geographic spread of MNZ offices and staff, implementation of the Sustainable 
Business Strategy will be targeted first at MNZ’s Wellington office. After these initiatives have 
been successfully implemented in Wellington, consideration will be given to extending initiatives 
to other MNZ sites.  Some initiatives (eg procurement policies, vehicle fuel efficiency) will have 
immediate impacts across the whole organisation. 
 
MNZ’s Sustainable Business Strategy outlines the priority areas for the next three years as 
represented in the diagram on the following page. 
 
 

Dec 08 Jun 09 Dec 09 Jun 10 Dec 10 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

Project Poseidon 
Project Poseidon is a programme of work that was initiated following acceptance of a 
recommendation to upgrade MNZ’s IT systems and services in July 2005. A funding bid of 
$4.36m in the Government’s 2006 Budget was successful and work stream one commenced in 
2006 to implement three key IT applications: Electronic Document and Records Management, 
Customer Relationship Management, Financial Reporting and Investment modules. This work 
stream has now been successfully implemented. 
 
Work stream two of the Poseidon project commenced during 2007/08 and its primary focus is 
on the replacement of MNZ’s legacy application, Mainstay, with a modern, web-centric 
application more closely aligned to MNZ’s current business needs.  In February 2008 Datacom 
was chosen as the preferred vendor to deliver the new application and work commenced in 
March 2008 on the first, elaboration phase, the Vessels and Maritime Documents project 
scheduled for implementation in March 2009.  This will deliver a centralised database for 
recording of Ship Registration and Survey data and will be populated with cleansed data from 
the existing Mainstay database. 
 
A secondary component of work stream two was the replacement of the HRIS. Implementation 
of this system is well underway with several modules (payroll, exit management etc.) in 
production. Detailed analysis of subsequent modules, primarily Time Recording, is underway 
with implementation scheduled for October 2008. 
 

STAGE THREE STAGE ONE 

Energy efficiency 

Paper use/ 
waste minimisation 

Workplace travel plans 

Procurement 

STAGE TWO 
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Looking forward, work will continue on replacement of Mainstay and extension of the new 
application into areas such as Seafarer Licensing. Continued investment will be made in 
modernising IT infrastructure and ensuring MNZ Information Systems (IS) can support the 
increasing demands made on MNZ’s core business areas. 
 
IS Strategic Plans have identified internal capability development as an important objective to run 
alongside the Poseidon project. This is to ensure MNZ has some ‘self-service’ capability and will 
not be wholly dependent on external service providers when the Poseidon programme is 
complete. 
 
To support this, our current service providers have committed to building the MNZ Business 
Analysis and Development staff into their project team for work stream two. Regular updates are 
provided by both internal and external staff to the IS Manager to ensure satisfactory progress is 
being made with regard to skills development and regular progress reports are provided to the IS 
governance group. 
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OUTCOME MEASUREMENT 
MNZ has developed a series of outcome measures that are in alignment with those being 
developed by the MoT and the transport sector agencies as part of the aligned transport sector 
planning process.  These measures focus on reductions in fatalities, injuries, accidents and 
maritime pollution resulting from oil spills.  
 
The targets were set taking into account trends over time in the target sectors, current initiatives 
and their apparent impacts on the target sectors, and planned initiatives along with their 
predicted impacts.  The numbers involved are in most cases very small, and a single multiple 
fatality accident will have a significant impact upon the target.  The use of the word “minimise” in 
the targets emphasises the point that continuing reductions of small numbers may not be 
possible in the longer term, and that the resources necessary to achieve those reductions may 
be excessive when compared with the resulting benefits.  Initiatives designed to achieve the 
targets are also subject to available funding. 
 
Progress against the sector targets are detailed in the table below. 

B Minimise all accidents, 
fatalities and injuries 
involving passenger and 
non-passenger vessels 
operating under safety 
management systems 
(excluding commercial 
jetboats and rafts) 

The rate per 100,000 
operating hours of fatalities, 
accidents and injuries 
involving passenger and 
non-passenger vessels 
operating under safety 
management systems 
(excluding commercial 
jetboats and rafts) 

50% reduction from a 
starting point of: 

� 0.07 fatalities/year 

� 6.26 accidents/year 

� 1.44 injuries/year 

 
 

0.06 fatalities7 

6.01 accidents 

1.19 injuries 

C Minimise all accidents, 
fatalities and injuries 
involving pleasure boats 

Fatalities per 100,000 
pleasure boat owners8 

25% reduction from a 
starting point of: 

� 0.03 fatalities/year 

 
 

0.02 fatalities 

D Minimise all accidents, 
fatalities and injuries 
involving NZ commercial 
and NZ foreign 
chartered fishing 
vessels 

The rate per 100,000 
operating hours of 
accidents, fatalities and 
injuries involving NZ 
commercial and NZ foreign 
chartered fishing vessels 

50% reduction from a 
starting point of: 

� 0.18 fatalities/year 

� 2.34 accidents/year 

� 1.07 injuries/year 

 
 

0.20 fatalities 

2.39 accidents 

1.10 injuries 
 
 
 
 

                                                      
3 All rates are averaged over three years for the period ending 30 June 2006. 
4 Actual figures are averaged over three years for the period ending 30 June 2008. 
5 New Zealand SOLAS vessels are defined as those vessels subject to Maritime Rule Part 40B - Design, Construction & 
Equipment - SOLAS Ships. 
6 It is considered that the level of safety in this area cannot be further improved whilst still meeting a positive 
cost/benefit requirement. 
7  Two fatalities when the non-passenger vessel Shikari collided with the moored vessel Flightless. 
8 Measures for the rates of injuries and accidents have not been set due to the extremely high level of under-reporting 
which is apparent from this sector. 

 
GOAL MEASURE TARGET FOR 

2006/103 
ACTUAL 
2007/084 

A Minimise all accidents, 
fatalities and injuries 
involving international 
SOLAS vessels in New 
Zealand (NZ) waters and 
NZ SOLAS vessels5 

anywhere 

The rate per 100 vessels of  
accidents, fatalities and 
injuries involving international 
SOLAS vessels in NZ waters 
and NZ SOLAS vessels 
anywhere 

No increase6 from a starting 
point of: 

� 0.07 fatalities/year 

� 2.37 accidents/year 

� 0.66 injuries/year 

                  
0.07 fatalities 

2.35accidents 

0.74 injuries 
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 GOAL MEASURE TARGET FOR 
2006/10 

ACTUAL 
2007/08 

E Minimise the amount of 
oil spilled from vessels 
into the marine 
environment 

The volume of oil spilled 
from vessels into the marine 
environment 

50% reduction from a 
starting point of: 

� 44.7 tonnes spilled/year  

 
 

11.51 tonnes 

F Minimise all accidents, 
fatalities and injuries 
involving commercial 
marine craft engaged in 
adventure tourism 

The rate per 100,000 
operating hours of fatalities, 
accidents and injuries 
involving vessels engaged in 
commercial jet boating and 
white-water rafting 

50% reduction from a 
starting point of: 

� 0.27 fatalities/year 

� 3.46 accidents/year 

� 2.57 injuries/year 

 
 

0.15 fatalities 

3.45 accidents 

0.28 injuries 

G Minimise all accidents, 
fatalities and injuries 
involving commercial 
marine craft engaged in 
adventure tourism 

 

The number of fatalities, 
accidents and injuries 
involving all paddle craft 
(other than river rafts) 
operating commerically 

No increase from a starting 
point of: 

� 0 fatalities/year 

� 0.33 accidents/year 

� 0 injuries/year 

 
 

0.00 fatalities 

0.83 accidents 

0.83 injuries 

H Minimise all fatalities 
and injuries resulting 
from maritime 
workplace activity 

The number of fatalities and 
serious harm injuries9 

25% reduction from a 
starting point of: 

� 9.33 fatalities/year 

� 76 serious harm 
injuries/year 

 
 

7.17 fatalities 

67.1 injuries 

 

                                                      
9 This includes fatalities and serious harm injuries also included other targets. 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
 
The preparation of financial statements of Maritime New Zealand and the judgements used 
herein are the responsibility of the Authority members and management and have been prepared 
in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004. 
 
The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 is the responsibility of the Authority members and management. 
 
In the opinion of the Authority members and management, financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Maritime New Zealand. 
 
 
 

   
 
 
Susie Staley     DDave Morgan 
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand  Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
  
Dated 31 October 2008    Dated 31 October 2008 
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AUDIT REPORT 

TO THE READERS OF 
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND’S 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STATEMENTOF SERVICE PERFORMANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, John O’Connell, using the staff and resources of Audit 
New Zealand, to carry out the audit on his behalf. The audit covers the financial statements 
and statement of service performance included in the annual report of Maritime NZ for the 
year ended 30 June 2008.  

Unqualified Opinion 

In our opinion: 

� the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 34 to 63: 

� comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

� fairly reflect: 

� Maritime NZ’s financial position as at 30 June 2008; and 

� the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on 
that date. 

� the statement of service performance of Maritime NZ on pages 65 to 73: 

� complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

� fairly reflects for each class of outputs: 

� its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with 
the forecast standards outlined in the statement of forecast service 
performance adopted at the start of the financial year; and 

� its actual revenue earned and output expenses incurred, as 
compared with the forecast revenues and output expenses outlined 
in the statement of forecast service performance adopted at the 
start of the financial year.  

The audit was completed on 31 October 2008, and is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Board and the Auditor, and explain our independence. 
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Basis of Opinion 

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the New Zealand Auditing Standards. 

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we 
considered necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
and statement of service performance did not have material misstatements, whether caused by 
fraud or error. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would 
affect a reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements and statement of service 
performance. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have 
referred to them in our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial 
statements and statement of service performance. We assessed the results of those procedures 
in forming our opinion. 

Audit procedures generally include: 

� determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and 
can be relied on to produce complete and accurate data; 

� verifying samples of transactions and account balances; 

� performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data; 

� reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Board; 

� confirming year-end balances; 

� determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; 
and 

� determining whether all financial statement and statement of service performance 
disclosures are adequate. 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements and statement of service performance. 

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements and statement of service performance. We obtained all the information and 
explanations we required to support our opinion above. 

Responsibilities of the Board and the Auditor 

The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements and statement of service 
performance in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The 
financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of Maritime NZ as at 30 June 
2008 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. The 
statement of service performance must fairly reflect, for each class of outputs, Maritime NZ’s 
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standards of delivery performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses incurred, as 
compared with the forecast standards, revenue and expenses adopted at the start of the 
financial year. The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004.  

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
statement of service performance and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises 
from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004.  

Independence 

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in Maritime NZ. 

 

 

 

John O’Connell 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Statement of Service Performance 

This audit report relates to the financial statements and statement of service performance of 
Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ) for the year ended 30 June 2008 included on Maritime 
NZ’s website. Maritime NZ’s Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
Maritime NZ’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Maritime 
NZ’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the 
financial statements and statement of service performance since they were initially presented 
on the website.  

The audit report refers only to the financial statements and statement of service performance 
named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to or from the financial statements and statement of service performance. If 
readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data 
communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial statements 
and statement of service performance and related audit report dated 31 October 2008 to 
confirm the information included in the audited financial statements and statement of service 
performance presented on this website. 

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 
   Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
   $000 $000 $000 
Income      
Revenue from Crown 2 8,463 8,461 7,963 
Marine safety charge revenue  14,325 13,599 13,426 
Interest revenue  472 344 457 
Other revenue 3 2,018 2,089 3,706 
Gains 4 (1) 30 44 

Total income   25,277 24,523 25,596 
     
Expenditure     
Personnel costs 5 11,881 10,824 11,013 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 14,15 1,782 2,037 1,524 
Capital charge 6 649 669 519 
Finance costs 7 8 - 9 
Other expenses 8 11,590 10,916 12,464 

Total expenditure   25,910 24,446 25,529 

Net surplus/(deficit)   ((633)       77     67 
 
Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 30 

 
 
STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 
  Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
  $000 $000 $000 
Balance at 1 July  12,042 11,002 8,942 
Amounts recognised directly in equity:     
Property, plant and equipment revaluation 
gains/(losses)  19 -  -  648 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (633) 77 67 
Total recognised income and expense  (633) 77 715 
Capital contribution 19 3,236  2,000 2,385 

Balance at 30 June  14,645 13,079 12,042 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



 35 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2008 
 
  Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
  $000 $000 $000 
ASSETS         
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,516 2,707 3,631 
Debtors and other receivables 10 1,903 2,079 1,952 
Prepayments  232 180 179 
Inventories 11 282 272 291 
Investments 12 3,152 - - 
Total current assets  9,085 5,238 6,053 

Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 14 7,022 6,947 7,144 
Intangible assets 15 2,038 3,878 1,809 
Total non-current assets  9,060 10,825 8,953 

Total assets  18,145 16,063 15,006 
     
Liabilities     
Current liabilities      
Creditors and other payables 16 2,561 2,208 2,104 
Employee entitlements 17 834 776 763 
Total current liabilities  3,395 2,984 2,867 

Non-current liabilities     
Provisions 18 105 - 97 
Total non-current liabilities  105 - 97 
      
Total liabilities  3,500 2,984 2,964 

Net assets  114,645 13,079 12,042 
     
Equity      
Crown contribution 19 11,346 9,058 8,110 
Retained earnings 19 2,651 3,373 3,284 
Revaluation reserve 19 648 648 648 

Total equity  114,645 13,079 12,042 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 

  Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
  $000 $000 $000 
Cash flows from operating activities         
Receipts from Crown revenue    8,455 9,215 7,963 
Interest received   395 344 463 
Fees funding  15,311 13,292 16,336 
Receipts from other revenue  936 847 1,062 
Payments to suppliers  (11,419) (10,556) (12,229) 
Payments for capital charge  (649) (669) (518) 
Payments to employees  (11,729) (10,555) (11,066) 
Goods and services tax (net)  292 (4) (27) 
Net cash from operating activities 20 1,592 1,914 1,984 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Receipts from sale of property, plant and 
equipment  196 30 120 
Receipts from the sale of investments  2,604 - - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (1,146) (1,359) (3,213) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (841) (2,457) (1,627) 
Acquisition of investments  (5,756) - - 
Net cash from investing activities  (4,943) (3,786) (4,720) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Capital contribution 19 3,236 2,000 2,385 
Net cash from financing activities  3,236 2,000 2,385 
     
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents  (115) 128 (351) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the 
year 31 3,631 2,579 3,982 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9 33,516 2,707 3,631 
 
The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the 
Inland Revenue Department. The GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as 
the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



 37 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 

Reporting entity 
Maritime New Zealand (MNZ) is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is 
domiciled in New Zealand. As such, MNZ’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown. 
 
MNZ’s primary objective is to provide public services to the New Zealand public as opposed to 
that of making a financial return.  Accordingly, MNZ has designated itself as a public benefit 
entity for the purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (NZ IFRS). 
 
The financial statements for MNZ are for the year ended 30 June 2008, and were approved by 
the Authority on 21 October 2008. 
 

Basis of preparation 
Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of MNZ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand’s 
generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). 
 
The financial statements comply with NZ IFRS and other applicable financial reporting standards, 
as appropriate for public benefit entities. 
 

First year of preparation under NZ IFRS 
This is the first set of financial statements prepared using NZ IFRS, and comparatives for the 
year ended 30 June 2007 have been restated to NZ IFRS accordingly. Reconciliations of equity 
and surplus/(deficit) for the year ended 30 June 2007 under NZ IFRS to the balances reported in 
the 30 June 2007 financial statements are detailed in note 31. 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements and in preparing an opening NZ IFRS statement of financial position 
as at 1 July 2006 for the purposes of the transition to NZ IFRS. 
 

Measurement base 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where modified 
by the revaluation of certain items of property, plant and equipment and the measurement of 
derivative financial instruments at fair value.  
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements. 
 

Functional and presentation currency 
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($’000). The functional currency of MNZ is New Zealand dollars. 
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Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not 
yet effective and have not been early adopted 
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted, and which are relevant to MNZ include: 
� NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements (issued 2004) and is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revised standard requires information in 
financial statements to be aggregated on the basis of shared characteristics and 
introduces a statement of comprehensive income.  The statement of comprehensive 
income will enable readers to analyse changes in equity resulting from non-owner 
changes separately from transactions with the Crown in its capacity as “owner”. The 
revised standard gives MNZ the option of presenting items of income and expense and 
components of other comprehensive income either in a single statement of 
comprehensive income with subtotals, or in two separate statements (a separate income 
statement followed by a statement of comprehensive income).  MNZ intends to adopt this 
standard for the year ending 30 June 2010, and is yet to decide whether it will prepare a 
single statement of comprehensive income or a separate income statement followed by a 
statement of comprehensive income. 

� NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 
2004) and is effective for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. The 
revised standard requires all borrowing costs to be capitalised if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. MNZ 
intends to adopt this standard for the year ending 30 June 2010 and expects the impact 
of adopting the new standard to be minimal. 

� NZ specific amendment to NZ IAS 2 Inventories. In November 2007 the New Zealand 
Accounting Standards Review Board approved an amendment to NZ IAS 2 Inventories, 
which requires public benefit entities to measure inventory held for distribution at cost, 
adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. Prior to the amendment, public 
benefit entities were required to measure inventories held for distribution at the lower of 
cost and current replacement cost. Application of the amendment is mandatory for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. MNZ intends to adopt the 
amended standard for the year ending 30 June 2009 and expects the impact of adopting 
the new standard to be minimal. 

 

Significant accounting polices 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 
 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
MNZ receives funding from the Crown, and is restricted in its use for the purpose of MNZ 
meeting its objectives as specified in the Statement of Intent. Revenue from the Crown is 
recognised as revenue when earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. 
 
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion to the 
stage of completion at balance date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to 
surveys of work performed. 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.  
 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the entity has transferred to the buyer the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. 
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Expenses 
Expenses are recognised when the goods or services have been received on an accrual basis. 
 

Capital charge 
The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the period to which the charge relates. 
 

Leases 
Leases that transfer to MNZ substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred, are classified as finance leases. At the 
commencement of the lease term, MNZ recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the present 
value of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge is charged to the statement of financial 
performance over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 
 
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to 
whether MNZ will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 
 
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset to MNZ are classified as operating leases.  Lease payments under an operating lease are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in the statement of 
financial performance.  
 
Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of financial performance over the 
lease term as an integral part of the total lease expense.  
 

Taxation 
MNZ is a public authority and consequently is exempt from the payment of income tax. 
Accordingly no charge for income tax has been provided for. MNZ is not exempt from indirect 
tax legislation such as Good and Services Tax, PAYE or ACC and therefore is required to comply 
with these regulations. 
 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
All items in the financial statements are presented on a GST exclusive basis, with the exception 
of accounts receivable and accounts payable which are stated as GST inclusive. Where GST is 
not recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. The net GST 
paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, 
is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 
 

Budget figures 
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Intent as approved by the Authority at the 
beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ 
IFRS, using accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by MNZ for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 
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Cost allocation 
MNZ has determined the cost of outputs by using the cost allocation system outlined below. 
 
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that 
can not be identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific output. Direct costs are 
charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on cost drivers and 
related activity/usage information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset utilisation. 
Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time incurred. Other indirect costs are 
assigned to outputs based on the proportion of full time equivalents (FTEs). 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks both 
domestic and international, other short-term, highly liquid investments, with original maturities of 
three-months or less. 
 

Debtors and other receivables 
Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment. Impairment 
of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that MNZ will not be able to 
collect amounts due according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, and default in 
payments are considered indicators that the debtor is impaired. 
 
The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate.  
 

Investments 
At each balance sheet date MNZ assesses whether there is any objective evidence that an 
investment is impaired. 
 

Bank deposits 
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After 
initial recognition investments in bank deposits are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 
 
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is objective evidence that MNZ will not 
be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the deposit. Significant 
financial difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy, and default in 
payments are considered indicators that the deposit is impaired. 

 

Inventory 
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not issued on 
a commercial basis are measured at the lower of cost (determined on the weighted average cost 
method) and current replacement cost. This valuation includes allowances for slow moving and 
obsolete stock.  
 
The write-down from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable value is recognised in the 
statement of financial performance in the period when the write-down occurs. 
 

Derivative financial instruments 
MNZ uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk arising 
from its operational activities. MNZ does not hold or issue these instruments for trading 
purposes. MNZ has not adopted hedge accounting. 
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Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance date. Movements in the fair 
value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
 
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward exchange contracts are held) 
are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of: 
• lighthouses 
• navigational aids 
• plant and equipment 
• motor vehicles 
• furniture, fittings and office equipment 
• computer equipment and software 
• leasehold improvements  
• land. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or valuation, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
 

Revaluations 
Land is revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from fair value and at least every three years. Fair value is determined from market-
based evidence by an independent valuer. All other asset classes are carried at depreciated 
historical cost. 
 
The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed at each balance date to ensure that those 
values are not materially different to fair value. Additions between revaluations are recorded at 
cost. 
 

Accounting for revaluations 
MNZ accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a class of assets basis. 
 
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve for that class of 
asset. Where this results in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is 
expensed in the statement of financial performance. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that 
off-sets a previous decrease in value recognised in the statement of financial performance will be 
recognised first in the statement of financial performance up to the amount previously expensed, 
and then credited to the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. 

 

Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to 
MNZ and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value when 
control over the asset is obtained. 

 



 42 

Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the statement of financial 
performance. 
 
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect of those 
assets are transferred to general funds. 
 

Subsequent costs 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to MNZ and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
statement of financial performance as they are incurred. 
 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than 
land, at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in the 
preparation of these statements are as follows: 
 
Asset type Useful life Depreciation 

Method 
Lighthouses 10-40 years straight line 
Leasehold improvements 2-9 years straight line 
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 5 years straight line 
Motor vehicles 5 years straight line 
Navigational aids 10-20 years straight line 
Plant and equipment 5-10 years straight line 
Computer equipment  3 years straight line 

 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, which ever is the shorter.  
 
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each 
financial year-end. 
 

Intangible assets 
Software acquisition and development 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software.  
 
Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use by MNZ, are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software development, employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.   
 
Other software related costs are recognised as follows: 
� Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

� Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense 
when incurred. 

� Costs associated with the development and maintenance of MNZ’s website are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. 
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Amortisation 
The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over 
its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date the 
asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of 
financial performance. 
 
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have 
been estimated as follows: 
 
Software  type Useful life Depreciation 

Method 
Acquired computer software 3-5 years straight line 
Developed computer software 8 years straight line 

   

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or 
service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net 
cash inflows and where MNZ would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future 
economic benefits or service potential. 
 
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets the impairment 
loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results in a 
debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the statement of financial 
performance. 
 
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of financial performance. 
 
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the revaluation reserve. 
However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously recognised 
in the statement of financial performance, a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in 
the statement of financial performance. 
 
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
the statement of financial performance. 
 
Creditors and other payables 
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 

Employee entitlements 
Short-term employee entitlements 
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, but not yet 
taken at balance date and retiring and long service leave entitlements expected to be settled 
within 12 months. 
 



 44 

Employee entitlements that MNZ expects to be settled within 12 months of balance date are 
measured at undiscounted nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of 
pay. Annual leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis at the greater of the average or 
current hourly earnings in accordance with sections 16(2) and 16(4) of the Holidays Act 2003. 
 
MNZ does not recognise a liability for sick leave as staff have an unlimited entitlement. 
 
MNZ recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay 
them, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
 
Long-term employee entitlements 
Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as long service leave and retirement 
leave have been calculated on an actuarial basis. 
 
The calculations are based on: 

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, 
the likelihood that staff will reach the point of entitlement and contractual entitlements 
information 

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
 
The discount rate is based on the weighted average of interest rates for government stock with 
terms to maturity similar to those of the relevant liabilities. The inflation factor is based on the 
expected long-term increase in remuneration for employees. 
 

Superannuation schemes 
Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government Superannuation Fund are 
accounted for as a defined contribution superannuation scheme and are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of financial performance as incurred. 
 

Provisions 
MNZ recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a 
present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
expenditures will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time, value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 

Restructuring 
A provision for restructuring is recognised when MNZ has approved a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring which has either been announced publicly to those affected, or for which 
implementation has already commenced. 
 
Onerous contracts 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by 
MNZ from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 
contract. 
 
The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating 
the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is 
established, MNZ recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 
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ACC Partnership Programme 
MNZ belongs to the ACC Partnership Programme whereby MNZ accepts the management and 
financial responsibility for employee work related illnesses and accidents. Under the programme 
MNZ is liable for all its claim costs for a period of two years up to a specified maximum. At the 
end of the two year period, MNZ pays a premium to ACC for the value of residual claims, and 
from that point the liability for ongoing claims passes to ACC. 
 
The liability for the ACC Partnership Programme is measured using actuarial techniques at the 
present value of expected future payments to me made in respect of the employee injuries and 
claims up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to anticipated future wage and salary 
levels and experience of employee claims and injuries. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields on government bonds at balance date with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value. After initial recognition, all borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements MNZ has made estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. 
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below: 
 

Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value 
At each balance date MNZ reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and 
equipment. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of property, 
plant and equipment requires MNZ to consider a number of factors such as the physical 
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by MNZ, and expected disposal 
proceeds from the future sale of the asset. 
 
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact the depreciation expense 
recognised in the statement of financial performance, and carrying amount of the asset in the 
statement of financial position. MNZ minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by: 

� physical inspections of assets 

� asset replacement programs 

� review of second-hand market prices for similar assets 

� analysis of prior asset sales. 

 
MNZ has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual 
values. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 14. 
 

Capital Commitments 
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that relate to unperformed goods or 
services that have been entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments. 
Commitments disclosed include those operating and capital commitments arising from non-
cancellable contractual or statutory obligations. 
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Contingent assets and liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. 
Contingent assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised. 
 

Statement of cash flows 
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in bank accounts and demand deposits in 
which MNZ invests as part of its day-to-day cash management. 
 
Operating activities include cash received from all income sources and records the cash 
payments made for the supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest and capital 
charge. 
 
Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current 
assets, intangible assets and investments. 
 
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and debt capital structure of MNZ. 
 

Note 2: Revenue from Crown 
MNZ has been provided with funding from the Crown for the specific purposes of MNZ as set 
out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriations. Apart 
from these general restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to 
government funding (2007 nil). 
 

Note 3: Other revenue 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Seafarer licensing 191 191 
Ship registration 105 132 
Oil pollution recovery 658 2,236 
Funding from Crown entities:   
  Accident Compensation Corporation 93 287 
  Ministry of Transport – Rules contract 660 659 
User charges 129 85 
Sponsorship 22 24 
Bad debts recovered 13 23 
Other income 147 69 

Total other revenue 2,018 3,706 
 

Note 4: Gains 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Gain on sale of property and equipment (1) 44 

Total gains (1) 44 
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Note 5: Personnel costs 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Personnel and related costs 11,342 10,487 
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 468 460 
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 17) 71 66 

Total personnel costs 11,881 11,013 
 

Note 6: Capital charge 
MNZ pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers' funds as at 30 June and 31 
December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2008 was 7.5% (2007 
7.5%). 
 

Note 7: Finance costs 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Discount unwind on provisions (note 18) 8 9 

Total finance costs 8 9 
 

Note 8: Other expenses 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Administration 931 956 
Authority members’ fees (note 24) 118 98 
Bad debts written off 17 36 
Donations 10 12 
Audit fees for financial statement audit 64 70 
Audit fees for NZ IFRS transition 10 - 
Impairment of receivables (note 10) 4 - 
Maintenance 849 969 
Marketing and public relations 1,088 1,389 
Operating 1,329 1,679 
Operating lease expense 960 850 
Professional and safety services 4,536 4,500 
Search costs 623 764 
Travel 1,017 1,141 
Website development expense 34 - 

Total other expenses 11,590 12,464 
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Note 9: Cash and cash equivalents 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Cash on hand and at bank 2,236 837 
Cash equivalents – term deposits 1,280 2,794 

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,516 3,631 
 
The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or  
less approximates their fair value. The weighted average effective interest rate for  
short-term deposits is 8.6% (2007 7.6%). 
 

Note 10: Debtors and other receivables 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Debtors and other receivables 1,752 1,510 
Less: provision for impairment (4) - 
Net trade debtors 1,748 1,510 
Other accounts receivable 155 318 
GST refundable - 124 

Total debtors and other receivables 1,903 1,952 
 
The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2008  
and 2007, all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and  
appropriate provisions applied as detailed below: 
 

 2008   2007  
Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net 

 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Not past due 700 - 700 925 - 925 
Past due 1-30 days 856 - 856 560 - 560 
Past due 31-60 days 127 - 127 24 - 24 
Past due 61-90 days 64 (3) 61 1 - 1 
Past due > 90 days 5 (1) 4 - - - 

Total 1,752 (4) 1,748 1,510 - 1,510 
 
The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for MNZ's pool of 
debtors.  Expected losses are based on an analysis of MNZ's losses in previous periods, and 
review of specific debtors.  Those specific debtors that are insolvent are fully provided for. As at 
30 June 2008 MNZ has identified nil debtors (2007 3) totalling $nil (2007 $651.79) that are 
insolvent. 
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Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Balance at 1 July - - 
Additional provisions made during the year (note 8) 4 - 
Receivables written off during the period - - 

Balance at 30 June 4 - 
 

Note 11: Inventories 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Spare parts 282 291 

Total inventories 282 291 
 
The write down off inventories held for distribution amounted to $nil (2007 $nil). There have been 
no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however some 
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses. 
 

Note 12: Investments 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 
 
 $000 $000 
Current investments are represented by:   

Term deposits 3,152 - 
Total current portion 3,152 - 
Non-current investments are represented by:   
Term deposits - - 
Total non-current portion - - 

Total investments 3,152 - 
 
There were no impairment provisions for investments. 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term deposits 

$000 $000 
Term deposits with maturities 4-6 months (average maturity 157 days) 3,152 - 
Weighted average effective interest rate 8.8% - 

 
The carrying amount of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximates their fair 
value. 
 
Term deposits are invested at fixed rates ranging from 8.39 % to 9.0%. As these deposits are at 
a fixed interest rate and measured at amortised cost, an increase or decrease in interest rates 
during the period would not impact the measurement of the investments and hence there would 
be no impact on the surplus/deficit or equity. 
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Note 13: Derivative financial instruments 
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward exchange contracts at 30 June 2008 was 
$nil (2007 $nil).  The fair value of forward exchange contracts has been determined using a 
discounted cash flows valuation technique based on quoted market rates.  
 

Note 14: Property, plant and equipment 
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 
 Light 

houses 
Buoys, day 
beacons, 

navigational 
lights 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Furniture, 
fittings and 
office equip 

Computer 
equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvement 

Land Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Cost or valuation          
Balance at 1 July 2006 1,516 1,925 8,418 937 792 1,214 480 - 15,282 
Additions 42 124 98 120 505 447 1,150 - 2,486 
Work in progress 91 - 268 - - 30 - - 389 
Revaluation increase - - - - - - - 648 648 
Disposals - - - (351) (21) (95) (67) - (534) 
Balance at 30 June 2007 1,649 2,049 8,784 706 1,276 1,596 1,563 648 18,271 
          
Balance at 1 July 2007 1,649 2,049 8,784 706 1,276 1,596 1,563 648 18,271 
Additions - 88 96 87 38 306 63 - 678 
Work in progress 342 - 303 - 65 - 17 - 727 
Revaluation increase - - - - - - - - - 
Disposals - - - - - (89) - - (89) 

Balance at 30 June 2008 1,991 2,137 9,183 793 1,379 1,813 1,643 648 19,587 
          
Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses          
Balance at 1 July 2006 643 1,593 5,749 371 654 939 210 - 10,159 
Depreciation expense 35 68 738 154 92 193 146 - 1,426 
Elimination on disposal - - - (274) (21) (94) (69) - (458) 
Elimination on revaluation - - - - - - - - - 
Impairment losses - - - - - - - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2007 678 1,661 6,487 251 725 1,038 287 - 11,127 
          
Balance at 1 July 2007 678 1,661 6,487 251 725 1,038 287 - 11,127 
Depreciation expense 40 51 679 133 144 271 209 - 1,527 
Elimination on disposal - - - - (12) (77) - - (89) 
Elimination on revaluation - - - - - - - - - 
Impairment losses - - - - - - - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2008 718 1,712 7,166 384 857 1,232 496 - 12,565 
          
Carrying amounts          
At 1 July 2006 873 332 2,669 566 138 275 270 - 5,123 
At 30 June &1 July 2007 971 388 2,297 455 551 558 1,276 648 7,144 
At 30 June 2008 1,273 425 2,017 409 522 581 1,147 648 7,022 

 
Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of MNZ in 1993 
has been revalued by an independent registered valuer, Graeme Horsley Limited on 3 June 
2007.  The total fair value of land valued by Graeme Horsley Limited amounted to $648,000. 
 
The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is $727,000 
(2007 $389,000). 
 
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is $nil (2007 
$nil). 
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Note 15: Intangible assets 
Acquired Internally Total 
Software generated  

 software  

 
Movements for each intangible asset class 

$000 $000 $000 
Cost    
Balance at 1 July 2006 1,349 - 1,349 
Additions 1,285 - 1,285 
Work in progress - 446 446 
Disposals (15) - (15) 
Balance at 30 June 2007 2,619 446 3,065 

Balance at 1 July 2007 2,619 446 3,065 
Additions 328 - 328 
Work in progress - 156 156 
Disposals - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2008 2,947 602 3,549 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses    
Balance at 1 July 2006 1,173 - 1,173 
Amortisation expense 98 - 98 
Disposals (15) - (15) 
Impairment losses - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2007 1,256 - 1,256 

Balance at 1 July 2007 1,256 - 1,256 
Amortisation expense 255 - 255 
Disposals - - - 
Impairment losses - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2008 1,511 - 1,511 

Carrying amounts    
At 1 July 2006 176 - 176 

At 30 June and 1 July 2007 1,363 446 1,809 

At 30 June 2008 1,436 602 2,038 
 
There are no restrictions over the title of MNZ's intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets 
pledged as security for liabilities. 
 

Note 16: Creditors and other payables 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Trade creditors 206 1,175 
GST payable 177 9 
Accrued expenses 2,178 920 

Total creditors and other payables 2,561 2,104 
 
Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 
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 30-day terms, therefore the carrying value of creditors and other payables 
 approximates their fair value. 
 

Note 17: Employee entitlements 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Current annual leave  608 577 
Current salary and wages 226 186 

Total employee entitlements 834 763 
 

Note 18: Provisions 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Current provisions are represented by:   
Lease make-good - - 
Total current portion - - 
Non-current provisions are represented by:   
Lease make-good 105 97 
Total non-current portion 105 97 

Total provisions 105 97 
 
Movements for each class of provision are as follows:  
 

Lease 
Made-good 

 
Movement in provisions statement 

$000 
Balance at 1 July 2006 15 
Additional provisions made 73 
Amounts used - 
Used amounts reversed - 
Discount unwind (note 7) 9 
Balance at 30 June 2007 97 

Balance at 1 July 2007 97 
Additional provisions made - 
Amounts used - 
Used amounts reversed - 
Discount unwind (note 7) 8 
Balance at 30 June 2008 105 

 

Lease make-good 
In respect of its leased premises MNZ is required at the expiry of the lease  
term to make good any damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures  
and fittings and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by MNZ.  In many  
cases MNZ has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing  
of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about  
MNZ's leasing arrangements is disclosed in note 21. 
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Note 19: Equity 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
General funds   
Balance at 1 July  11,394 8,942 
Surplus/(deficit) (633) 67 
Capital contribution 3,236 2,385 
Balance at 30 June  13,997 11,394 

Revaluation reserve   
Balance at 1 July  648 - 
Revaluations - 648 
Balance at 30 June  648 648 

Total equity at 30 June 14,645 12,042 
 
The revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2008 consists of land $648,000  
(2007 land $648,000). 
 

Note 20: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net 
cash from operating activities 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Net surplus/(deficit) (633) 67 
   
Add/(less) non-cash items   
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,782 1,524 
Total non-cash items 1,782 1,524 
   
Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities   
(Increase)decrease in fixed asset accruals (177) 570 
Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets 1 (44) 
Total items classified as investing/financing activities (176) 526 
   
Add/(less) movements in working capital items   
(Increase)decrease in inventories 9 (18) 
(Increase)decrease in accounts receivable 49 292 
Increase(decrease) in accounts payable, incl provisions 614 (419) 
(Increase)decrease in prepayments (53) 12 

Net movements in working capital items 619 (133) 
   
Net cash from operating activities 1,592 1,984 
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Note 21: Capital commitments and operating leases 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Capital commitments   
Property, plant and equipment 50 - 
Intangible assets - - 
Total capital commitments 50 - 
   
Operating leases as lessee   

The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be 
paid under non-cancellable and operating leases are as 
follows:   
Not later than one year 968 580 
Later than one year and not later than five years 3,552 3,856 
Later than five years 1,873 3,245 
Total non-cancellable operating leases 6,393 7,681 

 
MNZ leases 14 properties with terms as follows: 
 
Office location Lease Lease Lease 

 Start Renewal Expiry 

 Date Date Date 

Auckland District Office, Level 2, Suite 6, 20 Augustus Terrace, Parnell 1-Sep-06 1-Sep-08 31-Aug-10 

72 Gore Street, Bluff, Invercargill 28-Nov-05 26-Nov-08 28-Nov-11 

Level 1, Shipping House, 38 Graham Street, Port Nelson, Nelson 1-May-06 1-May-09 29-Apr-16 

Mariners Mall, High Street, Picton 21-Oct-05 20-Oct-08 20-Oct-08 

Level 1, Shipping Services Building, Norwich Quay, Lyttleton 1-Apr-05 1-Apr-10 31-Mar-13 

Hutchen Place, Port Taranaki, New Plymouth 1-Jul-95 None None 

Suite 3, Nikau House, Nikau Crescent, Mount Manganui 1-Apr-03 1-Apr-09 30-Mar-12 

1 Birch Street, Dunedin 1-Dec-06 30-Nov-09 30-Nov-09 

NZWTA Building, Corner Lever & Bridge Streets, Aruhuri, Napier 1-Jul-05 1-Jul-09 30-Jun-13 

Manaia House, Rathbone Street, Whangarei 1-Oct-07 None 30-Sep-09 

Wellington Head Office, 1 Grey Street, Wellington 9-Mar-07 9-Mar-10 07-Mar-16 

Wellington (MOC), Level 3, Avalon TV Studios, Percy Cameron Street, Avalon 1-Jul-94 1-Jul-09 30-Jun-14 

Wellington (DAT), Level 6, Avalon TV Studios, Percy Cameron Street, Avalon 1-Apr-05 1-Apr-08 31-Mar-14 

Wellington (RCCNZ), Avalon TV Studios, Percy Cameron Street, Avalon 1-Apr-04 1-Apr-08 31-Mar-14 

 
A significant portion of the total non-cancellable operating lease expense relates to the lease of 
two floors of an office building for the Wellington Head Office in Grey Street, Wellington. The 
lease expires in March 2016, with an option to vacate the premises at the lease renewal date of 
March 2010. MNZ has assumed it will not vacate the premises at the lease renewal date of 
March 2010. MNZ does not have the option to purchase the asset at the end of the lease term.  
 
MNZ has recognised a make-good provision of $105,000 (2007 $97,000) in respect of these 
leases (refer note 18).  
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Note 22: Contingencies 
MNZ has no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2008 (2007 $nil).  
 

Note 23: Related party transactions 

Related party transactions  
MNZ is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of 
MNZ in addition to being a major source of its revenue.  
 
MNZ enters into transactions with government departments, state-owned enterprises and other 
Crown entities. Those transactions that occur within a normal supplier or client relationship on 
terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect 
MNZ would have adopted if dealing with that entity at arms length in the same circumstances 
have not been disclosed as related party transactions.  
 
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described 
above. All related party transactions have been entered into on an arms length basis. The 
aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel 
and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:  
 

Ref Transaction Value Balance outstanding
 Year ending 30 June Year ending 30 June 
 2008 2007 2008 2007 

Transaction 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 
MNZ – provision of services to NZ 
Oil Pollution Fund 1 658 2,236 45 317 
Chairman – provision of services to 
Tower Limited 2 495 412 - - 
Chairman – provision of services to 
Tower Limited 3 7 - - - 

 
1 MNZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and in doing so 

incurs costs directly. These costs are recovered from the Fund.  

2 The Chairman is a director of Tower Limited. Tower Employee Benefits Limited, a 
subsidiary of Tower Limited, has been contracted to administer the MNZ employee 
superannuation scheme. This service was supplied on normal terms and conditions. 

3 The Chairman is a director of Tower Limited. MNZ pays Tower Employee Benefits Limited 
a monthly provider fee for administration of the MNZ employee superannuation scheme. 
This service was supplied on normal terms and conditions. 

 
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for impairment of receivables from 
related parties (2007 $nil). 
 

Key management personnel compensation 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,476 1,192 
Termination benefits 164 - 

Total key management personnel compensation 1,640 1,192 
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Key management personnel include all Authority members, the Chairman, and the remaining 
eight members of the Executive Team. 
 

Note 24: Authority (Board) member remuneration 
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was: 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Susie Staley (Chairman) 37 33 
David Morgan (Deputy Chairman) 24 21 
Ken Gilligan 19 16 
Adrienne Young Cooper 19 16 
Michael Ludbrook 19 12 
Total Authority member remuneration 
 

118 98 
 
There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority who are 
not Authority members during the financial year.   
 
MNZ has provided a deed of indemnity to Directors for certain activities undertaken in the 
performance of the MNZ's functions. 
 
MNZ has effected Directors and Officers Liability and Professional Indemnity Insurance cover 
during the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and employees. 
 

Note 25: Employee remuneration 
Actual  Actual  Total remuneration paid or payable 

2007/08 2006/07 
100,000 to 109,999 6 3 
110,000 to 119,999 3 4 
120,000 to 129,999 2 2 
130,000 to 139,999 - - 
140,000 to 149,999 - 1 
150,000 to 159,999 1 1 
160,000 to 169,999 3 1 
170,000 to 179,999 - 1 
180,000 to 189,999 - - 
190,000 to 199,999 1 1 
200,000 to 209,999 - 1 
250,000 to 259,999 1 - 

Total employees 17 15 
 
During the year ending 30 June 2008, three (2007 one) employees received compensation and 
other benefits in relation to cessation totalling $175,233 (2007 $15,000). No Authority members 
received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2007 $nil). 
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Note 26: Events after balance sheet date 
There were no significant events after the balance sheet date. 
 

Note 27: Categories of financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the NZ IAS 39 categories are as 
follows: 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Loans and receivables   
Cash and cash equivalents (note 9) 3,516 3,631 
Debtors and other receivables (note 10) 1,903 1,952 
Investments – term deposits (note 12) 3,152 - 
Total loans and receivables 8,571 5,583 
   
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   
Creditors and other payables (note 16) 2,561 2,104 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,561 2,104 
 

Note 28: Financial instrument risks 
MNZ's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. MNZ has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial 
instruments and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not 
allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into. 
 

Market risk 
The interest rates on MNZ's investments are disclosed in note 12. 
 

Fair value interest rate risk 
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. MNZ's exposure to fair value interest rate risk is limited to its 
bank deposits which are held at fixed rates of interest. 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose 
MNZ to cash flow interest rate risk. MNZ's investment policy requires a spread of investment 
maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements. MNZ currently has no 
variable interest rate investments. 
 

Sensitivity analysis 
As at 30 June 2008, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all 
other variables held constant, the deficit for the year would have been $19,000 (2007 $20,000) 
higher/lower. This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term 
deposits.  
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Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. MNZ purchases goods and services 
overseas which require it to enter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a 
result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. MNZ does not operate any overseas 
currency bank accounts.  
 
It is MNZ's policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and 
liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk 
exposure. 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to MNZ, causing MNZ to incur 
a loss. Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, MNZ invests surplus cash with 
registered banks.  MNZ's investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one 
institution. MNZ has processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to the 
granting of credit. 
 
MNZ's maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the 
total carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents (note 9), net debtors (note 10) and term 
deposits (note 12). There is no collateral held as security against these financial instruments, 
including those instruments that are overdue or impaired. 
 
MNZ has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit 
customers and only invests funds with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor's 
credit ratings. 
 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that MNZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet 
commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and 
the ability to close out market positions. MNZ aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping 
committed credit lines available. 
 
In meeting its liquidity requirements, MNZ maintains a target level of investments that must 
mature within specified timeframes. 
 
The table below analyses MNZ's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 

Less than  Between Between Over 
31 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days 

    

 
 

$000 $000 $000 $000 
2007     
Creditors and other payables (note 16) 2,042 11 3 48 

2008     

Creditors and other payables (note 16) 2,561 - - - 
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Note 29: Capital management 
MNZ's capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is 
represented by net assets. 
 
MNZ is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities 
Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing 
guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives. 
 
MNZ manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, 
liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings to ensure MNZ effectively achieves its 
objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern. 
 

Note 30: Explanation of significant variances against 
budget 
Explanations for significant variations from MNZ's budgeted figures in the Statement of Intent are 
as follows: 
 

Statement of financial performance 
Marine Safety Charge (MSC) 
MSC foreign going revenue exceeded budget primarily due to more visits by container ships 
even though the number of port visits continues to trend downwards. Total gross tonnage has 
continued to decline but this has been offset by an increase in the number of voyages thereby 
generating additional revenue. MSC cruise ship revenue is also greater than planned due to the 
number of international cruise vessel visits to New Zealand being greater than budgeted for. 
 

Other revenue  
This is lower than budget mainly because one off revenue expected by RCCNZ from Oil Pollution 
Fund (OPF) for their share of the Incident Management System (IMS) was not received, as 
ownership of this system has now been transferred to OPF. 
   

Interest revenue 
This is greater than budget predominantly due to higher interest rates. The budget assumed 8% 
would be earned on call whereas MNZ is currently earning between 8.25% and 8.95% on short 
term fixed deposits. There is also more cash and cash equivalents on hand than anticipated 
largely due to less expenditure on capital items than forecast. 
 

Personnel costs 
Salaries and wages are higher than budget due to fewer vacancies than anticipated and bringing 
on new staff at higher levels than budgeted. The budgeted vacancy level was set at 7% and 
assumed savings from this did not hold true. Replacement of existing staff has caused difficulties 
as new staff hired cost more than budget due to the situation of the labour market where 
prospective employees not only have a choice of roles but also their remuneration expectations 
are being matched.  Recruitment costs exceeded budget and this related to either placement 
fees being paid to agencies or higher advertising costs. There was also an additional 1.5% pay 
increase for staff effective 1 January 2008 and additional costs have been incurred through 
redundancy of some staff members during the year. Contract staff expenses were greater than 
budget due to unbudgeted contract staff being required to fill roles within business groups for 
long periods until vacancies were able to be filled. 
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Depreciation and amortisation 
These were lower than budgeted due to delays in significant capital expenditure.  Also the 
capitalisation of the IMS project did not occur due to OPF taking ownership instead. 
 

Other expenses 
Other expenses exceeded budget mainly due to consultancy costs. These exceeded budget 
predominantly because the SSM project required more resources than originally planned. The 
review of Survey Nelson and additional work on Kiwisaver consultation and strategic options for 
the distress radio service has also contributed to overspends in this area. Additional legal 
expenses have also been incurred relating to the renewal and variation of contracts and external 
providers in the area of investigation reports. Information system software maintenance also 
exceeded budget as a consequence of the web upgrade project which was expensed under NZ 
IFRS rather than capitalised under the old NZ GAAP. There have also been other system 
enhancements that were not anticipated during the year. 
 

Statement of financial position 
Cash and cash equivalents 
These are higher than budget as those short-term deposits with maturities less than three 
months have been reclassified as cash and cash equivalents under NZ IFRS. A capital injection 
of $1,236,000 was also received from the Crown in June 2008.  This was for the recovery of 
search and rescue expenditure in previous years over and above the base line funding received. 
 

Intangible assets 
These are less than budget due to the delay in capital expenditure related to work stream two for 
Project Poseidon and the transfer of the IMS project to OPF. 
 

Creditors and other payables 
These are higher than budgeted due to year end accruals. 
 

Provisions 
Provisions were greater than budgeted due to the first time inclusion of lease make-good 
provisions per note 18. 
 

Statement of changes in equity 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 
The deficit for the year was greater than budgeted due to the budget variances explained in the 
statement of financial performance above. 
 

Note 31: Explanation of transition to NZ IFRS 

Transition to NZ IFRS 
As stated in note 1, these are MNZ's first financial statements to be prepared in accordance with 
NZ IFRS.  MNZ's transition date is 1 July 2006 and the opening NZ IFRS balance sheet has 
been prepared as at that date. MNZ's NZ IFRS adoption date is 1 July 2007. 
 

Exemptions from full retrospective application elected by MNZ 
In preparing these financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS 1, MNZ has applied the 
deemed cost exemption to its property, plant and equipment. Under this exemption, MNZ is 
allowed to use the carrying values of property, plant and equipment under previous NZ GAAP as 
deemed cost.  
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The only mandatory exception from retrospective application that applies to MNZ is the 
requirement for estimates under NZ IFRS at 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007 to be consistent with 
estimates made for the same date under previous NZ GAAP. 
 

Reconciliation of equity 
The following table shows the changes in equity, resulting from the transition from previous NZ 
GAAP to NZ IFRS as at 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007. 
 

  Previous 1 July 2006 NZ IFRS Previous 30 June 2007 NZ IFRS 
  NZ GAAP Effect on  NZ GAAP Effect on  
   transition   transition  
   NZ IFRS   NZ IFRS  
 Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Assets        

Current assets        

Cash and cash equivalents a 1,068 2,914 3,982 837 2,794 3,631 
Investments a 2,903 (2,903) - 2,789 (2,789) - 
Debtors and other receivables b 2,405 (203) 2,202 2,136 (184) 1,952 
Prepayments c - 191 191 - 179 179 
Inventories  272 - 272 291 - 291 
Total current assets  6,648 (1) 6,647 6,053 - 6,053 
        
Non-current assets        
Property, plant and equipment d 5,287 (164) 5,123 8,860 (1,716) 7,144 
Intangible assets e - 176 176 - 1,809 1,809 
Total non-current assets  5,287 12 5,299 8,860 93 8.953 
        
Total assets  111,935 11 11,946 14,913 93 15,006 
        
Liabilities        
Current liabilities        
Creditors and other payables  2,292 - 2,292 2,104 - 2,104 
Employee entitlements  697 - 697 763 - 763 
Total current liabilities  2,989 - 2,989 2,867 - 2,867 
        
Non-current liabilities        
Provisions f - 15 15 - 97 97 
Total non-current liabilities  - 15 15 - 97 97 
        
Total liabilities  2,989 15 3,004 2,867 97 2,964 
Net assets  8,946 (4) 8,942 12,046 (4) 12,042 
        
Equity        
Crown contribution  5,725 - 5,725 8,110 - 8,110 
Retained earnings g 3,221 (4) 3,217 3,288 (4) 3,284 
Revaluation reserves  - - - 648 - 648 
Total equity  8,946 (4) 8,942 12,046 (4) 12,042 
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Explanatory notes - Reconciliation of equity 
a   Cash and cash equivalents 
Those short-term deposits with maturities less than three months have been reclassified as cash 
and cash equivalents under NZ IFRS. 

b   Debtors and other receivables  
Accrued interest on term deposits has been recognised as fair value of the term deposits. 
c   Prepayments 
Prepayments were classified as part of debtors and other receivables under previous NZ GAAP. 

d   Property, plant and equipment 
The adjustments to property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 

 1 July 2006 30 June 2007 
 Notes $000 $000 
Intangible assets e (176) (1,809) 
Lease make-good f 12 93 

Total adjustment to property, plant and equipment  (164) (1,716) 
 

e   Intangible assets 
Computer software has been reclassified as an intangible asset under NZ IFRS. It was previously 
classified as property, plant and equipment. 

f   Provisions 
Lease make-good provision previously not recognised under NZ GAAP. This is not an 
adjustment due to NZ IFRS as the lease make-good provision should have been recognised 
under previous NZ GAAP. 

g   Equity  
Equity has reduced as a result of the recognition of lease make-good provision recognised in 
retained earnings per f. Provisions above. 
 

Reconciliation of surplus for the year ending 30 June 2007 
The following table shows the changes in MNZ's surplus, resulting from the transition from 
previous NZ GAAP to NZ IFRS for the year ending 30 June 2007. 
 

 Previous Effect on NZ IFRS 
 NZ GAAP Transition to  
  NZ IFRS  

 

Notes $000 $000 $000 
Income     
Revenue from Crown  7,963 - 7,963 
Marine safety charge revenue  13,426 - 13,426 
Interest income  457 - 457 
Other revenue a 3,750 (44) 3,706 
Gains a - 44 44 
Total income  25,596 - 25,596 
 
Expenditure     
Cost of services b 25,529 (25,529) - 
Personnel costs c - 11,013 11,013 
Depreciation and amortisation expense d - 1,524 1,524 
Capital charge e - 519 519 
Finance costs f - 9 9 
Other expenses g - 12,464 12,464 
Total expenditure  25,529 - 25,529 

Net surplus/(deficit)  67 - 67 
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Explanatory notes - Reconciliation of surplus 
a     Other revenue/Gains 

Consists of gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and net foreign exchange gains  
(note 4).  Previously classified as part of other revenue under NZ GAAP. 

b     Cost of services 
This was total expenditure under NZ GAAP.  Broken down into classes under NZ IFRS per 
reconciliation of surplus explanatory notes c - g below. 

c     Personnel costs 
Previously classified as part of cost of services under NZ GAAP. Reported separately under 
NZ IFRS. 

d     Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Previously classified as part of cost of services under NZ GAAP. Reported separately under 
NZ IFRS. 

e     Capital charge 
Previously classified as part of cost of services under NZ GAAP. Reported separately under 
NZ IFRS. 

f      Finance costs 
Previously classified as part of cost of services under NZ GAAP. Reported separately under 
NZ IFRS.  The finance costs consist of the discount unwind on lease make-good provisions. 
These should have been reported under previous NZ GAAP and this is not an adjustment 
due to NZ IFRS.  

g   Other expenses 
Previously classified as part of cost of services under NZ GAAP. Reported separately under 
NZ IFRS. 

 

Reconciliation of statement of cash flows 
On transition to NZ IFRS the statement of cash flows presents short-term deposits with 
maturities less than three months as part of cash and cash equivalents. This change has 
impacted on the statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2007 as follows: 

� the amount of cash and cash equivalents at end of year has increased from $837,000 to 
$3,631,000 

� net investments has decreased from $2,789,000 to $nil. 
 
There have been no other material adjustments to the statement of cash flows for the year 
ended 30 June 2007, on transition to NZ IFRS. 
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STATEMENT OF SERVICE PERFORMANCE 
 

Output Class 1: Maritime regulation and monitoring 
This output class involves the delivery of a number of safety and security related services that 
contribute directly towards the Authority’s vision for safe, secure and clean seas. This output 
class also contributes to the sector outcomes of promoting a maritime environment that takes 
responsibility for its safety, and reducing its impact in terms of fatalities, injuries, harm to health 
and compliance with the maritime regulatory framework. 
 
Under this output class, MNZ provides the following outputs:   
� government services 
� communication and education 
� maritime operations and services 
� security services 
� safety services and infrastructure. 
 

Output 1.1 Government services 
Description: Meeting all reporting obligations and contributing to a whole of Government 
approach, contributing to the objectives and priorities of the NZTS and advising on technical 
maritime safety policy. Responsible for administering international obligations of the Crown under 
the treaties, memoranda and other international maritime agreements listed in Schedule Two of 
the Output Agreement with the Minister of Transport. 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Actual          
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 
16 
 
54 
 
32 

Quantity 
Replies to ministerial correspondence 
 
Reports to the Minister 
 
Replies to Parliamentary questions 
 

 
20 
 
44 
 
16 

 
30-40 
 
60-70 
 
35-45 
 

 
100% 

Quality 
Percentage of draft replies to Ministerial 
correspondence and answers to parliamentary 
questions accepted by the Ministry of Transport on 
first submission 

 
97% 

 
90% 
 
 
 

 
100% 
 
 
 
 
100% 

Timeliness 
Percentage of draft replies to Ministerial 
correspondence forwarded to the Ministry of 
Transport within 10 business days from the time of 
receipt by MNZ 
 
Reports to the Minister and answers to parliamentary 
questions within timeframes specified by the 
Minister’s Office/the MoT 

 
95% 
 
 
 
 
100% 

 
100% 
 
 
 
 
100% 

$1,523,000 Expenditure $1,693,000 $1,744,000 
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Output 1.2: Communication and education 
Description: Building strong stakeholder partnerships, providing educational advice to promote 
awareness and acceptance of safety, security and environmental standards and best practice. 
 

Actual           
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 
 8 
 
743 

Quantity 
Number of active strategic partnership groups  

Number of proactive workplace interventions      
conducted, eg visits to inform, advise, promote, 
survey and assess 

  
7 
 
809 

 
 8 
 
750 

 
- 

Quality 
Percentage of stakeholders either satisfied or 
extremely satisfied with key communications tools 
used by MNZ 

 
-10 

 
65% 

 
Achieved 
 
 

100% 

Timeliness 
Percentage availability of media line 
 
 

Percentage of key publications and marketing 
material completed by scheduled due date 

 
Achieved 
 
 

100% 

 
24/7 
availability  
 

100% 

$2,914,000 Expenditure  $3,358,000 $2,939,000 
 
 

 
 

                                                      
10 A survey was not conducted to measure stakeholder satisfaction during the 2007/08 financial year. 
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Output 1.3: Maritime operations and services 
Description: Setting, monitoring and enforcing safety, security, and marine pollution prevention 
standards and guidelines under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act 1992 and the Maritime Security Act 2004. The investigation of accidents, 
incidents and mishaps. Maintaining the NZ Register of Ships and issuing licences and permits. 
 

Actual           
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 
15 
 

1,002 
 
 

716 
 

100% 
(4 out of 4) 

Quantity 
Number and percentage of flag state inspections  
 

Number and percentage of risk assessments of SSM 
vessels 
 

Number of ship registration transactions 
 

Number of TAIC safety report recommendations 
responded to within four weeks of receiving the final 
report 

 
27 (193%)11  
 

809 (26%) 
 
 

65012 
 

100%  
(14 out of 14) 

 
14 (100%) 
 

750 (25%) 13 
 
 

800 – 1000 
 

90% 

 
89% 
 
 

100% 

Quality 
Percentage of initial audits of SSM vessels carried out 
within  three month exemption period 
 

Percentage of classification societies audited to 
ensure compliance with international requirements 

 
84% 
 
 

100% 

 
75% 
 
 

100% 

 92% 

 99% 

Percentage of eligible port state vessels, as 
determined by the Tokyo Memorandum of 
Understanding targeting factor, which are inspected 
 

Percentage of commercial rafting and jet boating 
operations audited 

90% 
 
 
 

92%14 

80% 
 
 
 

100% 

 80% 

 40% 

Percentage of prosecutions, undertaken to enforce 
the Maritime Transport Act 1994 and the Health and 
Safety in Employment Act 1992, which are successful 
 

Percentage of accident investigations completed and 
reported within six months where no prosecution has 
been initiated 

100%15 
 
 
 

92% 
 

75% 
 
 
 

75% 

 99% 

 33% 

Timeliness 
Percentage of corrective actions from initial audits of 
SSM vessels closed out within agreed timeframes 
 

Number of corrective actions, produced from audits 
of SSM companies, closed out within timelines 
agreed between MNZ and the SSM company 

 
59%16 
 
 

45%17 
(10 out of 22) 

 
95% 
 
 

100% 

 Achieved Maritime and marine protection rules developed in 
accordance with the programme agreed with the 
Minister 

Achieved Rules 
contract  
adhered to  

 $8,848,000 Expenditure $10,001,000 $8,826,000 

                                                      
11 Flag state inspections are now being performed on each vessel twice a year rather than annually. 
12 Ship registration transactions are about 20% down on target expectations. 
13 The target is based on a total of 3,000 vessels liable for risk assessments. 
14 100% of the 45 commercial rafting operators and 84% of the 50 commercial jet boating operations were audited 

within the annual reporting period. 
15 Excludes negotiated settlements where multiple parties may have been cited for an offence, but prosecution for the 

offence progressed against only one of those parties. 
16 The low percentage achieved is due to a significant number of corrective actions issued not being related to safety or 

health and safety employment matters but being in the nature of recommendations or observations.  Account was 
also not taken in reporting of extensions of exemptions for operational or other reasons. 

17 Low close out rate due to five outstanding Corrective Actions pertaining to a specific SSM company.  An independent 
review of this company is underway to determine the appropriate regulatory action required to remedy this.  A further six 
corrective actions due for close out on 30 June 2008 were actually closed out on 3 July 2008 (three days later).
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Output 1.4: Security services 
Description: Implementing and monitoring the International Ship and Port Security (ISPS) Code.  
Responding to alerts, investigating and reviewing maritime security breaches and incidents. 
 

Actual           
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 
8 ports 
 
372 

Quantity 
Number of port security inspections per annum 
 
Number of ships risk profiled 

 
14 ports 
 
1,02518 

 
14 ports 
 
All foreign 
vessels 
(estimated 
1600) 

 
100% 

Quality 
Percentage of intelligence and risk products delivered 
to the satisfaction of national and international clients 

 
100%19 

 
100% 

 
100% 

Timeliness 
Percentage of non-compliances identified by ports 
closed out within agreed timeframes 

 
-20 

 
100% 

$878,000 Expenditure $1,239,000 $1,109,000 
 

 

Output 1.5: Safety services and infrastructure 
Description: Providing distress and safety communication systems and services, and aids to 
navigation. 

 
Actual           
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 
140 out of 142 

 

Quantity 
Maintenance and inspection of navigational aids to 
ensure correct functioning 

 
141 out of 141 

 
All navigation 
aids inspected

 
99.9% 
 
100% 
 
100% 
 
New 
measure 
 
New 
measure 
 
Service 
provided 

Quality 
Availability levels of lighthouses 
 
Availability levels of day beacons 
 
Availability levels of floating aids (buoys) 
 
Radio coverage availability for Kordia owned radio 
stations  
 
Radio coverage availability for MNZ owned radio 
stations  
 
Provision of a 24/7 Distress and Safety Radio Service 

 
99.8% 
 
99.9% 
 
100% 
 
100% 
 
 
99.7% 
 
 
Service 
provided 

 
99.8% 
 
97% 
 
97% 
 
99.9% 
 
 
99.6% 
 
 
Service 
provided 

$5,325,000 Expenditure $5,241,000 $5,704,000 
 

                                                      
18 It is not possible to risk profile all foreign vessels with the resources available.  This meant that any vessels that 

arrived in New Zealand during this period that were not ISPS compliant would have gone undetected.  The Customs 
Department (National Targeting Centre) did provide a limited profiling capability during the year, which minimised the 
New Zealand maritime security risk.  A more realistic target of risk profiling 55% of all foreign ships that visit New 
Zealand, has been set for the 2008/09 financial year. 

19 Satisfaction is measured on the basis that no negative feedback is received on products delivered. 
20 There were no non-compliances identified by Ports during the 2007/08 financial year. 
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Output class 1: Summary 
 Actual  Budget Actual  
 2008 2008 2007 
 $000 $000 $000 
Income    
Crown revenue 5,189 5,187 4,689 
Marine safety charges revenue 14,325 13,599 13,426 
User charges 424 417 407 
Crown agencies:    
Accident Compensation Corporation 93 93 287 
Ministry of Transport (Rules contract) 660 660 659 
Other 115 123 155 
Interest income 432 303 387 
Total income 21,238 20,382 20,010 
    
Expenditure     
Government services 1,693 1,744 1,523 
Communication and education 3,358 2,939 2,914 
Monitoring and compliance services 10,001 8,826 8,848 
Security services 1,239 1,109 878 
Safety services and infrastructure 5,241 5,704 5,325 
Total expenditure 21,532 20,322 19,488 
    Net surplus/(deficit) (294) 60 522 
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Output Class 2: Marine environment protection 
Through this output class, MNZ will deliver marine oil pollution spill response services that 
contribute directly towards the Authority’s vision of achieving a maritime environment with 
minimal pollution as part of an integrated and sustainable transport system. This output class 
also contributes to the sector outcomes of promoting a maritime community that is reducing its 
negative impacts in terms of the human and natural environments. 
 

Output 2.1: Marine environment response capability 
Description: Ensuring New Zealand’s operational preparedness for, and ability to respond to, 
marine oil spills.  
  

Actual           
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 

93 
 

New measure 
 
 

New measure 
 
 

New measure 

Quantity 
Number of reported oil and non-oil spills 
 
Number of reported marine pollution incidents 
related to oil-in-water discharge 
 
Quantity of oil spilled from vessels into the 
environment 
 
Quantity of oil-in-water from off-shore installations 
 

 
139 
 
168 
 
 
4,202 litres 
 
 
24,465 litres21 

 
Reducing trends22  

 
Reducing trends23  
 
 

Reducing trends  
 
 

Reducing trends 

 
Green 

Quality 
Oil Spill Preparedness Index24 

 
Green 

“Green” 
response level 

 
 89% 

 

 
Percentage of Tier 2 or Tier 3 spill responses that 
are effectively and efficiently managed25 

 
91% 

 
90% 

 
Service 
provided 

 
 100% 

 

Timeliness 
Provision of a 24/7  advice and response capability 
 
 
Timely activation of a response to Tier 2 and Tier 3 
spills within two hours of notification 

 
Service 
provided 
 
100% 

 
Service  
provided 
 
100% 

$2,239,000 Revenue $658,000 $690,000 
$2,240,000 Expenditure  $659,000 $690,000 

 

Commentary on performance 
The number of reported oil spills increased during 2007/08 and reflects an improvement in reporting by 
regional councils particularly in relation to smaller spills. 

MNZ has been actively encouraging a reduction of high oil-in-water discharges with offshore operators.  
One operator who has had difficulty meeting set environmental targets has now invested a lot of resources 
into re-injecting the produced water into an extinct oil well as opposed to discharging the produced water 
into the marine environment.  This mitigation strategy is supported and will reduce the oil-in-water 
discharge figures from this offshore sector. 

                                                      
21 In October 2007 23,000 litres of oil was spilt from the floating production and storage vessel Umuroa. 
22 There is not a relationship between the number of spills and the volume of oil spilled. 
23 This is a new target which reflects a change in the way that offshore oil production platforms report emissions of 

hydrocarbon into the marine environment. Since December 2007, offshore oil platforms have been required to report 
any release of oil in the water above 100ppm as an oil spill. 

24 This index measures the degree to which current arrangements for responding to Tier 2 and Tier 3 marine oil spills are 
at the optimum level specified in the National Strategy.  Behind the index sits a checklist which is used to objectively 
assess the level of preparedness.  Preparedness is reported based on a “Green” (able to respond), “Amber” (able to 
respond in most circumstances), and “Red” (not able to respond) assessment. 

25 Responsibility for a Tier 2 response lies with regional councils within their part of the Territorial Sea (12 nautical miles) 
where the oil spill exceeds the capability of the party originally responsible for the spill (Tier 1) or no responsibility party 
can be identified.  MNZ is responsible for all Tier 3 oil spills; that occur where the spill is beyond the resources of a 
region or which occur within our exclusive economic zone, but outside regional council boundaries. 
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Output class 2: Summary 
 Actual  Budget Actual  
 2008 2008 2007 
 $000 $000 $000 
Income    
Oil pollution recovery26 658 690 2,236 
Other revenue - - 3 
Crown agencies - - - 
Total income 658 690 2,239 
Total expenditure 659 690 2,240 
    
Net surplus/(deficit) (1) -         (1) 

                                                      
26 Recovered from the Oil Pollution Fund – cost recovery of expenses paid by MNZ on behalf of the Fund 
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Output Class 3: Class III search and rescue operations 
Through this output class, MNZ will deliver Class III SAR operations that contribute directly 
towards the Authority’s vision of safe, secure and clean seas. 
   
This output class also contributes to the sector outcomes of improving the maritime sector’s 
ability to recover quickly and effectively from adverse events, and reducing its impact in terms of 
fatalities, injuries and harm to health. This output class also covers the delivery of operations in 
relation to aviation and land Class III SAR operations. 
 

Output 3.1: Search and rescue co-ordination capability 
Description: Provision in the New Zealand SAR Region of 24/7 co-ordination services for Class III 
land, sea and air SAR operations. Provide an immediate response to all notified distress alerts 
within the New Zealand SAR region, to co-ordinate searches to locate persons in distress, and 
render appropriate assistance to ensure the safety of all persons concerned. 
 

Actual           
2006/07 

Performance measure Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
2007/08 

 
1,219 

Quantity 
Number of SAR incidents responded to 
 

 
992 

 
900-1,200 

100% 
 

Percentage of successful searches or recoveries once 
the target was located 
 

98% 85% 

2 Number of tabletop exercises conducted 4 2 
 
100% 

Quality 
Minimum of one fully trained search and rescue officer 
in the operations room 
 

 
100% 

 
100% 

100% Minimum of two fully trained search and rescue 
officers on watch 

100% 100% 

100% Percentage availability levels of local user terminals 
 

100% 95% 

- 
 

Percentage of the SAR community satisfied or very 
satisfied with RCCNZ services based on independent 
customer survey 
 

 - 27  85% 

100% 
 

Percentage of SAR operations carried out in 
accordance with operating procedures 

100%28 100% 

 
100% 
 
 
80% 
 

Timeliness 
Percentage of “significant” incident debriefs held SAR 
sector-wide within six weeks of incident concluding 
 
Percentage of continuous improvement opportunities 
identified through debriefs implemented within agreed 
timeframes 

 
100% 
 
 
100% 

 
100% 
 
 
100% 

$3,347,000 Revenue $3,380,000 $3,511,000 
$3,801,000 Expenditure  $3,718,000 $3,494,000 

 
 

 
                                                      
27 Owing to resource limitations no formal, independent, customer survey was conducted during the reporting period.  
RCCNZ did participate in all four meetings of the SAR Consultative Committee where all significant SAR community 
stakeholders are present and presented regular updates of incidents managed, issues, processes and procedures.  
These meetings are documented and there were no adverse comments on RCCNZ services.  In addition regular liaison 
meetings were held with key SAR sector stakeholders (such as NZ Police) and no adverse comments were recorded. 
28 This measure is based on a sample of incident reports reviewed throughout the year.  All major incidents are 
automatically reviewed to ensure operating procedures have been followed. 
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Output class 3: Summary 
 Actual  Budget Actual  
 2008 2008 2007 
 $000 $000 $000 
Income    
Crown revenue 3,274 3,274 3,274 
Other revenue 66 196 3 
Interest income 40 41 70 
Total income 3,380 3,511 3,347 
Total expenditure 3,718 3,494 3,801 

Net surplus/(deficit) (338) 17      (454) 
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APPENDIX ONE: 

NEW ZEALAND OIL POLLUTION FUND 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Chairman’s report 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
 
The Fund is comprised of levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil 
installations and pipelines. The levy is risk-based to reflect the level of risk attributable to different 
categories of ships and types of oil. 
 
A five-year forecast and an annual budget is endorsed by the Oil Pollution Advisory Committee 
(OPAC) for consideration by the Authority, which, in turn, recommends a capital and operating 
budget for approval by the Minister of Transport. 
 
The accumulated monies in the Fund and the on-going annual contributions from levies are 
applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and 
maintenance of an effective marine oil pollution response system for New Zealand. 
 
 

 
 
Susie Staley 
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
 
The preparation of financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the 
judgements used herein are the responsibility of the Authority members and management and 
have been prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004. 
 
The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 is the responsibility of the Authority members and management. 
 
In the opinion of the Authority members and management, financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund. 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
Susie Staley     DDave Morgan 
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand  Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
  
Dated 31 October 2008    Dated 31 October 2008 
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AUDIT REPORT 

TO THE READERS OF 
THE NEW ZEALAND OIL POLLUTION FUND’S 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, John O’Connell, using the staff and resources of Audit 
New Zealand, to carry out the audit on his behalf. The audit covers the financial statements 
included in the annual report of Maritime New Zealand for the year ended 30 June 2008.  

Unqualified Opinion 

In our opinion: 

� the financial statements of the Fund on pages 83 to 109: 

� comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

� fairly reflect: 

� the Fund’s financial position as at 30 June 2008; and 

� the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on 
that date. 

The audit was completed on 31 October 2008, and is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Board and the Auditor, and explain our independence. 

Basis of Opinion 

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the New Zealand Auditing Standards. 

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we 
considered necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements did 
not have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would 
affect a reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material 
misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial 
statements. We assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion. 
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Audit procedures generally include: 

� determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and 
can be relied on to produce complete and accurate data; 

� verifying samples of transactions and account balances; 

� performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data; 

� reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Board; 

� confirming year-end balances; 

� determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; 
and 

� determining whether all financial statement disclosures are adequate. 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements. 

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements. We obtained all the information and explanations we required to support our 
opinion above. 

Responsibilities of the Board and the Auditor 

The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The financial statements must fairly reflect the 
financial position of the Fund as at 30 June 2008 and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the year ended on that date. The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime 
Transport act 1994.  

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 
2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004.  

Independence 

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Fund. 

 

 

 
John O’Connell 
Audit New Zealand 
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On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements 

This audit report relates to the financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the 
Fund) for the year ended 30 June 2008 included on Maritime NZ’s website. Maritime NZ’s 
Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Maritime NZ website. We have 
not been engaged to report on the integrity of Maritime NZ’s website. We accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they 
were initially presented on the website.  

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an 
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the financial 
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic 
data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and related audit report dated 31 October 2008 to confirm the information 
included in the audited financial statements presented on this website. 

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 
   Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
   $000 $000 $000 
Income      
Oil pollution levies  2,848 2,692 2,744 
Other revenue 2 115 34 187 
Interest revenue  512 458 495 
Gains 3 6 - 18 

Total income   3,481 3,184 3,444 
     
Expenditure     
Oil spill response  20 75 40 
Personnel costs 4 701 689 625 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 12,13 347 319 328 
Finance costs 5 3 - 3 
Other expenses 6 3,032 3,345 2,918 
Total expenditure  4,103 4,428 3,914 

Net operating surplus/(deficit)  ((622) (1,244) (470) 
 
Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 26. 

 
 
STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 
  Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
  $000 $000 $000 
Balance at 1 July  11,076 11,468 11,546 
Amounts recognised directly in equity:     
Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (622) (1,244) (470) 
Total recognised income and expense  (622) (1,244) (470) 
Capital contribution 17 - - - 

Balance at 30 June 17 110,454 10,224 11,076 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2008 
 
  Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
  $000 $000 $000 
Assets         
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 7 618 5,345 5,129 
Debtors and other receivables 8 239 246 39 
Inventories 9 852 950 905 
Investments 10 5,039 - 1,567 
Total current assets  6,748 6,541 7,640 

Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 12 4,165 4,186 4,357 
Intangible assets 13 459 4 33 
Total non-current assets  4,624 4,190 4,390 
    Total assets  11,372 10,731 12,030 
     
Liabilities     
Current liabilities      
Creditors and other payables 14 824 472 914 
Employee entitlements 15 51 35 - 
Total current liabilities  875 507 914 
 Non-current liabilities     
Provisions 16 43 - 40 
Total non-current liabilities  43 - 40 
      
Total liabilities  918 507 954 

Net assets  110,454 10,224 11,076 
     
Equity      
General funds 17 10,454 10,224 11,076 

Total equity  110,454 10,224 11,076 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 

  Actual  Budget Actual  
 Notes 2008 2008 2007 
  $000 $000 $000 
Cash flows from operating activities         
Receipts from fees and charges  2,708 2,692 2,743 
Receipts from other revenue  114 34 187 
Interest received  512 458 494 
Payments to suppliers  (3,147) (3,162) (3,507) 
Oil spill response  (20) (75) (40) 
Payments to employees  (604) (688) - 
Goods and services tax (net)  (61) (26) 83 
Net cash from operating activities 18 (498) (767) (40) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Receipts from sale of property, plant and 
equipment  6 - 18 
Receipts from sale of investments  7,720 - 4,763 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (66) (188) (268) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (466) - - 
Acquisition of investments  (11,207) - (6,330) 
Net cash from investing activities  (4,013) (188) (1,817) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Capital contribution 17 - - - 
Net cash from financing activities  - - - 
     
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents  (4,511) (955) (1,857) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the 
year  5,129 6,300 6,986 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7 6618 5,345 5,129 
 
The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the 
Inland Revenue Department. The GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as 
the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 

Reporting Entity 
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has been established by Maritime NZ pursuant to 
Section 330 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The Fund is domiciled in New Zealand. The 
Fund’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown. 
 
The Fund’s primary objective is to meet the ongoing costs of maintaining New Zealand’s oil spill 
response capability, including contingency plans, equipment and training and response costs 
where they are unable to be recovered from the spiller. Levies imposed on shipping and oil sites 
are paid into the Fund to finance these costs. 
 
Accordingly, the Fund has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the purposes of New 
Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 
 
While the financial statements of the Fund form part of the financial reports of the Authority, they 
are presented separately in order to clearly identify the income and expenditure associated with 
the Authority’s oil pollution response activities. 
 
The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Section 330(7) of 
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. 
 
The financial statements for the Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2008, and were approved 
by the Authority on 21 October 2008. 
 
The Fund and Authority do not have the power to amend the financial statements after issue. 
 

Basis of preparation 
Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand 
generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). 
 
The financial statements comply with NZ IFRS’s, and other applicable financial reporting 
standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities. 
 

First year of preparation under NZ IFRS 
This is the first set of financial statements prepared using NZ IFRS, and comparatives for the 
year ended 30 June 2007 have been restated to NZ IFRS accordingly. Reconciliations of equity 
and surplus/(deficit) for the year ended 30 June 2007 under NZ IFRS to the balances reported in 
the 30 June 2007 financial statements are detailed in note 27. 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements and in preparing an opening NZ IFRS statement of financial position 
as at 1 July 2006 for the purposes of the transition to NZ IFRS. 
 

Measurement base 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where modified 
by the revaluation of certain items of property, plant and equipment, and the measurement of 
equity investments and derivative financial instruments at fair value. The accrual basis of 
accounting has been used.  
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Functional and presentation currency 
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($’000). The functional currency of the Fund is New Zealand dollars. 
 

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not 
yet effective and have not been early adopted 
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted, and which are relevant to the Fund include: 

� NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements (issued 2004) and is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revised standard requires information in 
financial statements to be aggregated on the basis of shared characteristics and 
introduces a statement of comprehensive income.  The statement of comprehensive 
income will enable readers to analyse changes in equity resulting from non-owner changes 
separately from transactions with the Crown in its capacity as “owner”. The revised 
standard gives the Fund the option of presenting items of income and expense and 
components of other comprehensive income either in a single statement of comprehensive 
income with subtotals, or in two separate statements (a separate income statement 
followed by a statement of comprehensive income).  The Fund intends to adopt this 
standard for the year ending 30 June 2010, and is yet to decide whether it will prepare a 
single statement of comprehensive income or a separate income statement followed by a 
statement of comprehensive income. 

� NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 
2004) and is effective for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. The 
revised standard requires all borrowing costs to be capitalised if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. The Fund 
intends to adopt this standard for the year ending 30 June 2010 and expects the impact 
of adopting the new standard to be minimal. 

� NZ specific amendment to NZ IAS 2 Inventories. In November 2007 the New Zealand 
Accounting Standards Review Board approved an amendment to NZ IAS 2 Inventories, 
which requires public benefit entities to measure inventory held for distribution at cost, 
adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. Prior to the amendment, public 
benefit entities were required to measure inventories held for distribution at the lower of 
cost and current replacement cost. Application of the amendment is mandatory for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The Fund intends to adopt the 
amended standard for the year ending 30 June 2009 and expects the impact of adopting 
the new standard to be minimal. 

 

Significant accounting polices 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 
 

Revenue 
The Fund earns revenue from interest on investments and levies to third parties for the provision of 
services. Such revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial period to which 
it relates. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
 

Interest 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest income on an impaired 
financial asset is recognised using the original effective interest rate. 
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Provision of services 
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion to the 
stage of completion at the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference 
to surveys of work performed. 
 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value. After initial recognition, all borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

Leases 
Operating leases 
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset to the Fund are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an operating lease 
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in the statement 
of financial performance. 
 
Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of financial performance over the 
lease term as an integral part of the total lease expense. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with domestic banks, 
and other short-term, highly liquid investments, with original maturities of three months or less. 
 

Debtors and other accounts receivable 
Debtors and other accounts receivable are initially measured at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for 
impairment. 
 
Impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Fund will not 
be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, and 
default in payments are considered indicators that the debtor is impaired. 
 
The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of financial performance. When the receivable 
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables. Overdue 
receivables that have been renegotiated are reclassified as current (ie not past due). 
 

Investments 
At each balance sheet date the Fund assesses whether there is any objective evidence that an 
investment is impaired. 
 
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
 
Short-term investments are deposited with registered New Zealand banks. Short-term 
investments are recognised at lower of cost or net realisable value. 
 
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Fund will 
not be able to collect amounts due according to the original term of the deposit. Significant 
financial difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy, and default in 
payments are considered indicators that the deposit is impaired. 
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Inventories 
Inventories held for consumption in the provision of services, that are not issued on a 
commercial basis are measured using the weighted average cost method. The replacement cost 
or service potential of spare parts inventory held for distribution reflects any obsolescence or any 
other impairment. The write-down from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable value 
is recognised in the statement of financial performance in the period when the write-down 
occurs. 
 
Inventory items used to repair or maintain an asset are recorded as an expense in the statement 
of financial performance. Items that replace an existing asset and are over $2,000 are recorded 
as property, plant and equipment, with the asset being replaced written off. If the replacement 
item is under $2,000 the cost is usually recorded as repairs and maintenance unless the item is 
part of an operating asset unit, in which case the cost is recorded as property, plant and 
equipment. 
 

Financial instruments 
The Fund is party to various financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, short term deposits, debtors and creditors. All financial 
instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position and all revenues and expenses 
in relation to financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
 

Accounting for derivative financial instruments, hedging activities 
and foreign currency transactions 
The Fund uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk 
arising from its operational activities. The Fund does not hold or issue these financial instruments 
for trading purposes. The Fund has not adopted hedge accounting. 
 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance date. Movements in the fair 
value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
 
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward exchange contracts are held) 
are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment asset classes are as follows: 
• Plant and equipment 
• Vessels 
• Motor vehicles 
• Furniture, fittings and office equipment 
• Computer equipment 
• Leasehold improvements  
 
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or valuation, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
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Revaluations 
All asset classes are carried at depreciated historical cost. The carrying values of revalued items 
are reviewed at each balance date to ensure that those values are not materially different to fair 
value. Additions between revaluations are recorded at cost. 
 

Accounting for revaluations 
The Fund accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a class of assets basis. 
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. 
Where this results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed in the 
statement of financial performance. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that off-sets a 
previous decrease in value recognised in the statement of financial performance will be 
recognised first in the statement of financial performance up to the amount previously expensed, 
and then credited to the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. 
 

Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to 
the Fund and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value when 
control over the asset is obtained. 
 

Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the statement of financial 
performance. 
 
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of 
those assets are transferred to general funds. 
 

Subsequent costs 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefit or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Fund and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
statement of financial performance as they are incurred. 
 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than 
land, at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. 
 
The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in the preparation of these statements 
are as follows: 
 
Asset type Useful life 
Plant and equipment 5-50 years 
Vessels 10-35 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 5 years 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Leasehold improvements 2-9 years 
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The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the unexpired period of 
the lease.  Items under construction are not depreciated. The total cost of a capital project is 
transferred to the appropriate asset class on its completion and then depreciated. 
 

Intangible assets 
Software acquisition and development 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software. Costs that are directly associated with the 
development of software for internal use by the Fund, are recognised as an intangible asset. 
Direct costs include the software development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads. 
 
Staff training costs and costs associated with the development and maintenance of the Fund’s 
website are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
 
Amortisation 
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over 
its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date the 
asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of 
financial performance. 
 
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have 
been estimated as follows: 
  
Software  type Useful life Depreciation 

Method 
Acquired computer software 3-5 years straight line 
Developed computer software 8 years straight line 

 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or 
service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net 
cash inflows and where the Fund would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future 
economic benefits or service potential. 
 
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets the impairment 
loss is recognised against the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results 
in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the statement of 
financial performance. 
 
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of financial performance. 
 
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve. However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously 
recognised in the statement of financial performance, a reversal of the impairment loss is also 
recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
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For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
the statement of financial performance. 
 

Creditors and other payables 
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

Provisions 
The Fund recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there 
is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
expenditures will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
All items in the financial statements are presented on a GST exclusive basis, with the exception 
of accounts receivable and accounts payable which are stated with GST included. Where GST is 
not recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
 
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and 
financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 
 

Income tax 
The Fund is a public authority in terms of the Income Tax Act 1994 and consequently is exempt 
from income tax. Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been provided for. 
 

Budget figures 
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Intent as approved by the Authority at the 
beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ 
IFRS, using accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Fund for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 
 

Expenses 
Expenses are recognised in the financial period to which they relate. 
 

Cost allocation 
The Fund has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation system outlined below. 
 
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that 
can not be identified in an economically feasible manner, with a specific output. 
 
All costs are tracked by account code, cost centre and activity code. Direct costs are charged 
directly to outputs. Indirect costs are allocated to cost centres on the basis of cost drivers and 
related activity/usage information. The cost centres are assigned or apportioned to an output or 
outputs. For the majority of cost centres there is a one-to-one relationship with outputs. All 
overheads are allocated to outputs on the basis of full time equivalents (FTE’s). 
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There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology since the date of the last 
audited financial statements. 
 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements the Fund has made estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual 
results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below: 
 

Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value 
At each balance date the Fund reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant 
and equipment. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of 
property, plant and equipment requires the Fund to consider a number of factors such as the 
physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by the Fund, and expected 
disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset. 
 
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact the depreciation expense 
recognised in the statement of financial performance, and carrying amount of the asset in the 
statement of financial position. The Fund minimised the risk of this estimation uncertainty by: 

� physical inspections of assets 
� asset replacement programs 
� review of the second-hand market prices for similar assets 
� analysis of prior asset sales. 

The Fund has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and 
residual values. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 12. 
 

Capital commitments 
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that relate to unperformed goods or 
services that have been entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments. 
Commitments disclosed include those operating and capital commitments arising from non-
cancellable contractual or statutory obligations. 
 

Contingent assets and liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. 
Contingent assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised. 
 

Statement of cash flows 
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in bank accounts and demand deposits in 
which the Fund invests as part of its day-to-day cash management. 
 
Operating activities include cash received from all income sources and records the cash 
payments made for the supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest and capital 
charge. 
 
Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current 
assets, intangible assets and investments. 
 
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and debt capital structure of the Fund. 
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Note 2: Other revenue 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Oil spill recoveries 42 - 
Bad debts recovered 1 1 
Equipment hire 59 27 
Other income 13 159 

Total other revenue 115 187 
 

Note 3: Gains 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 6 18 

Total gains 6 18 
 

Note 4: Personnel costs 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Salaries and wages 622 598 
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 28 27 
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 15) 51 - 

Total personnel costs 701 625 
 

Note 5: Finance costs 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Discount unwind on provisions (note 16) 3 3 

Total finance costs 3 3 
 

Note 6: Other expenses 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Administration 26 14 
Bad debts written off 1 1 
Costs covered by MNZ 659 944 
Consultancy 191 - 
Cost of goods sold 5 51 
Fees to auditors (financial statement audit) 8 8 
Impairment of receivables (note 8) - - 



 95 

 Actual  Actual  

 2007/08 2006/07 

 $000 $000 

Maintenance 146 18 
Marketing and public relations 41 41 
Operating lease expense 215 207 
Other 47 - 
Professional services 297 326 
Regional Council costs 965 892 
Staff travel 135 169 
Training and exercises 296 247 

Total other expenses 3,032 2,918 
 

Note 7: Cash and cash equivalents 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Cash on hand and at bank 407 525 
Cash equivalents – term deposits 211 4,604 

Total cash and cash equivalents 618 5,129 
 

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less 
approximates their fair value.  The weighted average effective interest rate for short-term 
deposits with maturity dates of three months or less is 8.5% (2007 7.7%). 
 

Note 8: Debtors and other receivables 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Trade debtors  123 18 
Less: provision for impairment - - 
Net trade debtors 123 18 
Other accounts receivable 34 - 
GST refundable 82 21 

Total debtors and other receivables 239 39 
 

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.  As at 30 June 2008 and 2007, all 
overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied as 
detailed below: 
 

 2008   2007  
Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net 

 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Not past due 123 - 123 18 - 18 
Past due 1-30 days - - - - - - 
Past due 31-60 days - - - - - - 
Past due 61-90 days - - - - - - 
Past due > 90 days - - - - - - 

Total 123 - 123 18 - 18 
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The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the Fund’s pool 
of debtors.  Expected losses are based on an analysis of the Fund's losses in previous periods, 
and review of specific debtors.  Those specific debtors that are insolvent are fully provided for. 
As at 30 June 2008 the Fund has identified nil debtors (2007 1) totalling $nil (2007 $29.14) that 
are insolvent. 
 
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Balance at 1 July - - 
Additional provisions made during the year (note 6) - - 
Receivables written off during the period - - 

Balance at 30 June - - 
 

Note 9: Inventories 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Inventories 852 905 

Total inventories 852 905 
 
The write down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $59,000 (2007 $nil). There have 
been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however 
some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses. 
 

Note 10: Investments 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 
 
 $000 $000 
Current investments are represented by:   
Term deposits 5,039 1,567 
Total current portion 5,039 1,567 
Non-current investments are represented by:   
Term deposits - - 
Total non-current portion - - 

Total investments 5,039 1,567 
 
There were no impairment provisions for investments. 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term deposits 

$000 $000 
Term deposits with maturities 4-6 months (average maturity 140 days) 5,039 1,567 
weighted average effective interest rate 8.8% 7.8% 

 
The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximates their 
fair value. 
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Term deposits are invested at fixed rates ranging from 8.38 % to 8.96%. As these deposits are 
at a fixed interest rate and measured at amortised cost, an increase or decrease in interest rates 
during the period would not impact the measurement of the investments and hence there would 
be no impact on the deficit or equity. 
 

Note 11: Derivative financial instruments 
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward exchange contracts at 30 June 2008 was 
$nil (2007 $nil).  The fair value of forward exchange contracts has been determined using a 
discounted cash flows valuation technique based on quoted market rates. 
 

Note 12: Property, plant and equipment 
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 
 Plant and 

equipment 
Vessels Motor  

vehicles 
Furniture,  

fittings and  
office equip 

Computer 
equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvement 

Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost or valuation        

Balance at 1 July 2006 9,027 454 279 92 21 60 9,933 
Additions 133 - 97 - - - 230 
Work in progress - - - - - - - 
Disposals (2) - (46) - - - (48) 
Balance at 30 June 2007 9,158 454 330 92 21 60 10,115 
        
Balance at 1 July 2007 9,158 454 330 92 21 60 10,115 
Additions 78 13 - 3 2 - 96 
Work in progress 33 12 - - - - 45 
Disposals - - (15) - - - (15) 

Balance at 30 June 2008 9,269 479 315 95 23 60 10,241 
        
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses        
Balance at 1 July 2006 5,118 47 196 88 19 21 5,489 
Depreciation expense 235 30 31 1 1 15 313 
Elimination on disposal - - (44) - - - (44) 
Impairment losses - - - - - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2007 5,353 77 183 89 20 36 5,758 
        
Balance at 1 July 2007 5,353 77 183 89 20 36 5,758 
Depreciation expense 241 29 39 4 1 22 336 
Elimination on disposal - - (14) - - (4) (18) 
Impairment losses - - - - - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2008 5,594 106 208 93 21 54 6,076 
        
Carrying amounts        
At 1 July 2006 3,909 407 83 4 2 39 4,444 
At 30 June and 1 July 2007 3,805 377 147 3 1 24 4,357 
At 30 June 2008 3,675 373 107 2 2 6 4,165 

 
The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is $45,214 
(2007 $nil).   
 
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance  
leases is $nil (2007 $nil). 
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Note 13: Intangible assets 
Acquired Internally Total 
Software generated  

 software  

 
Movements for each intangible asset class 

$000 $000 $000 
Cost    
Balance at 1 July 2006 51 27 78 
Additions - - - 
Disposals - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2007 51 27 78 
    
Balance at 1 July 2007 51 27 78 
Additions 437 - 437 
Disposals - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2008 488 27 515 
    
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses    
Balance at 1 July 2006 30 - 30 
Amortisation expense 15 - 15 
Disposals - - - 
Impairment losses - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2007 45 - 45 
    
Balance at 1 July 2007 45 - 45 
Amortisation expense 11 - 11 
Disposals - - - 
Impairment losses - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2008 56 - 56 
    
Carrying amounts    
At 1 July 2006 21 27 48 

At 30 June and 1 July 2007 6 27 33 

At 30 June 2008 432 27 459 
 
There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s intangible assets, nor are any intangible 
assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 14: Creditors and other payables 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Trade creditors 102 266 
Accrued expenses 722 648 

Total creditors and other payables 824 914 
 
Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, 
therefore the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value. 
 

Note 15: Employee entitlements 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Current annual leave  43 - 
Current salary and wages 8 - 

Total employee entitlements 51 - 
 
 

Note 16: Provisions 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Current provisions are represented by:   
Lease make-good - - 
Total current portion - - 
   
Non-current provisions are represented by:   
Lease make-good 43 40 
Total non-current portion 43 40 

Total provisions 43 40 
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:  
 

Lease 
Make-good

 
Movement in provisions statement 

$000 
Balance at 1 July 2006 37 
Additional provisions made - 
Amounts used - 
Discount unwind (note 5) 3 
Balance at 30 June 2007 40 
  
Balance at 1 July 2007 40 
Additional provisions made - 
Amounts used - 
Discount unwind (note 5) 3 
Balance at 30 June 2008 43 

 

Lease make-good 
In respect of its leased premises the Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to make 
good any damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings and to remove any 
fixtures or fittings installed by the Fund.  In many cases the Fund has the option to renew these 
leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. 
Information about the Fund’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in note 19. 
 

Note 17: Equity 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
General funds   
Balance at 1 July  11,076 11,546 
Surplus/(deficit) (622) (470) 
Capital contribution - - 

Total equity at 30 June 10,454 11,076 
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Note 18: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net 
cash from operating activities 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Net surplus/(deficit) (622) (470) 

Add/(less) non-cash items   
Depreciation and amortisation expense 347 328 
Total non-cash items 347 328 

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities   
(Increase)decrease in fixed asset accruals (45) (38) 
Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets 6 18 
Total items classified as investing/financing activities (39) (20) 

Add/(less) movements in working capital items   
(Increase)decrease in inventories 53 44 
(Increase)decrease in accounts receivable (201) 81 
Increase(decrease) in accounts payable, incl provisions (36) (3) 
(Increase)decrease in prepayments - - 

Net movements in working capital items (184) 122 

Net cash from operating activities (498) (40) 
  

Note 19: Capital commitments and operating leases 
Actual  Actual  

2007/08 2006/07 
 

$000 $000 
Capital commitments   
Property, plant and equipment - - 
Intangible assets - - 
Total capital commitments - - 

Operating leases as lessee   
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable leases are as follows:   
Not later than one year 131 131 
Later than one year and not later than five years 523 523 
Not later than five years 32 163 
Total non-cancellable operating leases 686 817 

 
The Fund leases one property as follows: 
 
Office location Lease Lease Lease 
 Start Renewal Expiry 
 Date Date Date 
Auckland (MPRS), 755 Te Atatu Road, Te Atatu 1-Oct-98 1-Oct-07 30-Sep-13 
 
The Fund has recognised a make-good provision of $43,000 (2007 $40,000) in respect of these 
leases (refer note 16).  
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Note 20: Contingencies 
The Fund has no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2008 (2007 $Nil).  
 

Note 21: Related party transactions 

Related party transactions  
The Fund is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role 
of the Fund.  The Fund enters into transactions with government departments, state-owned 
enterprises and other Crown entities.  
 
Those transactions that occur within a normal supplier or client relationship on terms and 
conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the Fund 
would have adopted if dealing with that entity at arms length in the same circumstances have 
not been disclosed as related party transactions.  
 
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described 
above. All related party transactions have been entered into on an arms length basis. The 
aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel 
and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:  
 

Ref Transaction Value Balance outstanding
 Year ending 30 June Year ending 30 June 
 2008 2007 2008 2007 

Transaction 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 
The Fund – cost recovered by MNZ 1 659 2,236 45 317 

 
1 MNZ is responsible for administering the Oil Pollution Fund.  The costs relating to this 

administration have been paid to MNZ on a cost recovery basis.  
 

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for impairment of receivables  
from related parties (2007 $nil). 
 

Key management personnel compensation 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Salaries and other short-term benefits 741 619 
Termination benefits - - 

Total key management personnel compensation 741 619 
 
Key management personnel includes the Director, Deputy Director, General Manager Corporate 
Services and the Manager of the Fund.  The Director and senior management members are paid 
by MNZ and there is no salary attribution made to the Fund for their management services.  As 
MNZ is a related party their full salaries have been included above. 
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Note 22: Events after balance sheet date 
There were no significant events after the balance sheet date. 
 

Note 23: Categories of financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the NZ IAS 39 categories are as 
follows: 
 

Actual  Actual  
2007/08 2006/07 

 

$000 $000 
Loans and receivables   
Cash and cash equivalents (note 7) 618 5,130 
Debtors and other receivables (note 8) 239 38 
Investments – term deposits (note 10) 5,039 1,567 
Total loans and receivables 5,896 6,735 
   
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   
Creditors and other payables (note 14) 824 914 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 824 914 
 

Note 24: Financial instrument risks 
The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Fund has a series of policies to manage the risks associated 
with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These 
policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into. 
 

Market risk 
The interest rates on the Fund’s investments are disclosed in note 10. 
 

Fair value interest rate risk 
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. The Fund’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk is limited to 
its bank deposits which are held at fixed rates of interest. 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose 
the Fund to cash flow interest rate risk. The Fund’s investment policy requires a spread of 
investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements. The Fund 
currently has no variable interest rate investments. 
 

Sensitivity analysis 
As at 30 June 2008, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all 
other variables held constant, the deficit for the year would have been $27,000 (2007 $29,000) 
higher/lower. This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term 
deposits.  
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Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund purchases goods and services 
overseas which require it to enter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a 
result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. The Fund does not operate any 
overseas currency bank accounts.  
 
It is the Fund’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments 
and liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency 
risk exposure. 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Fund, causing the Fund 
to incur a loss. Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the Fund invests surplus cash 
with registered banks.  The Fund’s investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any 
one institution. The Fund has processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to 
the granting of credit. 
 
The Fund’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the 
total carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents (note 7), net debtors (note 8) and term 
deposits (note 10). There is no collateral held as security against these financial instruments, 
including those instruments that are overdue or impaired. 
 
The Fund has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit 
customers and only invests funds with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor's 
credit ratings. 

 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet 
commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and 
the ability to close out market positions. The Fund aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available. 
 
In meeting its liquidity requirements, the Fund maintains a target level of investments that must 
mature within specified timeframes. 
 
The table below analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 

Less than  Between Between Over 
31 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days 

    

 
 

$000 $000 $000 $000 
2007     
Creditors and other payables (note 14) 914 - - - 
2008     

Creditors and other payables (note 14) 824 - - - 
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Note 25: Capital management 
The Fund’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity 
is represented by net assets. 
 
The Fund is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown 
Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, 
issuing guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives. 
 
The Fund manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings to ensure the Fund effectively 
achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern. 
 

Note 26: Explanation of significant variances against 
budget 
Explanations for significant variations from the Fund’s budgeted figures in the Statement of Intent 
are as follows: 
 

Statement of financial performance 
Oil pollution levies 
These were higher than budget mainly because there has been more vists from foreign going 
vessels and cruise ships. 
 

Interest revenue 
These are greater than budget due to more funds being available for investment as a large 
portion of costs have not been incurred until the latter part of the year. Also actual interest rates 
earned have been greater than those budgeted for. 
 

Other expenses 
Operating expenses were less than budget because less costs were incurred for the Incident 
Management System (IMS) than planned and the EARL/OSRL spill response contract was not 
taken up. This was slightly offset by greater than budgeted professional services expenses for 
work being completed on the OPF discussion document. 
 

Statement of financial position 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Balances are less than budget as more funds were invested in term deposits (maturity four to six 
months) to take advantage of high interest rates available on longer term deposits. 

Inventories 
There was a write down in the value of inventory held for distribution of $59,000 per note 9. 
 

Intangible assets 
This was greater than budget due to the transfer of the IMS software project from RCCNZ to the 
Fund. 
 



 106

Creditors and other payables 
These are greater than budget mainly because of accruals made for training expenses and items 
of capital expenditure. 
 

Provisions 
Provisions were more than budgeted due to the first time inclusion of lease make-good 
provisions which should have been recognised previously under NZ GAAP. 
 

Statement of changes in equity 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 
The deficit for the year was less than budgeted due to the budget variances explained in the 
statement of financial performance above. 
 

Statement of changes in cash flows 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
These were less than budget as more funds were invested in term deposits per variances 
explained in the statement of financial performance above. 
 

Note 27: Explanation of transition to NZ IFRS 

Transition to NZ IFRS 
As stated in note 1, these are the Fund's first financial statements to be prepared in accordance 
with NZ IFRS.  The Fund's transition date is 1 July 2006 and the opening NZ IFRS balance sheet 
has been prepared as at that date.  The Fund's NZ IFRS adoption date is 1 July 2007. 
 

Exemptions from full retrospective application elected by the 
Fund 
In preparing these financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS 1, the Fund has applied the 
deemed cost exemption to its property, plant and equipment. Under this exemption, the Fund is 
allowed to use the carrying values of property, plant and equipment under previous NZ GAAP as 
deemed cost.  
 
The only mandatory exception from retrospective application that applies to the Fund is the 
requirement for estimates under NZ IFRS at 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007 to be consistent with 
estimates made for the same date under previous NZ GAAP. 
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Reconciliation of equity 
The following table shows the changes in equity, resulting from the transition from previous NZ 
GAAP to NZ IFRS as at 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007. 
 
  Previous 1 July 2006 NZ IFRS Previous 30 June 2007 NZ IFRS 

  NZ GAAP Effect on  NZ GAAP Effect on  

   transition   transition  

   NZ IFRS   NZ IFRS  

 Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Assets        

Current assets        

Cash and cash equivalents a 388 6,598 6,986 525 4,604 5,129 
Debtors and other receivables b 152 (40) 112 77 (38) 39 
Inventories  949 - 949 905 - 905 
Investments a 6,565 (6,565) - 6,133 (4,566) 1,567 
Total current assets  8,054 (7) 8,047 7,640 - 7,640 
        
Non-current assets        
Property, plant and equipment c 4,473 (29) 4,444 4,371 (14) 4,357 
Intangible assets d - 48 48 - 33 33 
Total non-current assets  4,473 19 4,492 4,371 19 4,390 
        
Total assets  112,527 12 12,539 12,011 19 12,030 
        
Liabilities        
Current liabilities        
Creditors and other payables  956 - 956 914 - 914 
Total current liabilities  956 - 956 914 - 914 
        
Non-current liabilities        
Provisions e - 37 37 - 40 40 
Total non-current liabilities  - 37 37 - 40 40 
        
Total liabilities  956 37 993 914 40 954 
Net assets  11,571 (25) 11,546 11,097 (21) 11,076 
        
Equity        
Crown contribution f 11,571 (25) 11,546 11,097 (21) 11,076 
Total equity  11,571 (25) 11,546 11,097 (21) 11,076 

 

Explanatory notes - reconciliation of equity 
a     Cash and cash equivalents 

Those short-term deposits with maturities less than three months have been reclassified as 
cash and cash equivalents under NZ IFRS. 

b    Debtors and other receivables  
Accrued interest on term deposits has been recognised as fair value of the term deposits. 

c    Property, plant and equipment 
The adjustments to property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

 
 1 July 2006 30 June 2007 

 Notes $000 $000 
Intangible assets d (48) (33) 
Lease make-good e 19 21 
Hedge accounting g - (2) 

Total adjustment to property, plant and equipment  (29) (14) 
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d    Intangible assets 

Computer software has been reclassified as an intangible asset under NZ IFRS. It was 
previously classified as property, plant and equipment. 

e    Provisions 
Lease make-good provision previously not recognised under NZ GAAP. This is not an 
adjustment due to NZ IFRS as the lease make-good provision should have been recognised 
under previous NZ GAAP. 

f    Equity 
Equity has reduced as a result of the lease make-good provision recognised in equity per e. 
Provisions above. 

g    Hedge accounting  
Under previous NZ GAAP, the Fund accounted for future capital purchases that were 
hedged with forward exchange contracts in accordance with SSAP-21 Accounting for the 
Effects of Changes in Foreign Currency Exchange Rates. Where an entity is not hedge 
accounting, NZ IFRS requires property, plant and equipment to be recorded at the spot rate 
at initial recognition. The Fund has elected to not adopt hedge accounting under NZ IFRS, 
and the impact of this adjustment has been a reduction in the carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment at 30 June 2007 of $2,000. 

 

Reconciliation of surplus for the year ending 30 June 2007 
The following table shows the changes in the Fund’s surplus, resulting from the transition from 
previous NZ GAAP to NZ IFRS for the year ending 30 June 2007. 
 

 Previous Effect on NZ IFRS 
 NZ GAAP Transition to  
  NZ IFRS  

 

Notes $000 $000 $000 
Income     
Oil pollution levies  2,744 - 2,744 
Other revenue a 205 (18) 187 
Interest income  495 - 495 
Gains b - 18 18 
Total income  3,444 - 3,444 
     
Expenditure     
Oil spill response  40 - 40 
Other expenses c 3,546 (3) 3,543 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  332 (4) 328 
Finance costs  d - 3 3 
Total expenditure   3,918 (4) 3,914 

Net surplus/(deficit)  (474) 4 (470) 
 

Explanatory notes - reconciliation of surplus 
a    Other revenue 

Previously included gains which are reported separately under NZ IFRS. 

b    Gains 
Consists of gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and net foreign exchange gains 
(note 3).  Previously classified as part of other revenue under NZ GAAP. 

c    Operating expenses 
Previously included finance costs which are reported separately under NZ IFRS. 

d     Finance costs 
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Previously reported as part of operating expenses under NZ GAAP. Reported separately 
under NZ IFRS (note 5).  The finance costs consist of the discount unwind on lease make-
good provisions. These should have been reported under previous NZ GAAP and this is not 
an adjustment due to NZ IFRS. 

 

Reconciliation of statement of cash flows 
On transition to NZ IFRS the statement of cash flows presents short-term deposits with 
maturities less than three months as part of cash and cash equivalents. This change has 
impacted on the statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2007 as follows: 

� The amount of cash and cash equivalents has increased from $525,000 to $5,129,000. 

� Net investments have decreased from $6,133,000 to $1,567,000. 
 
There have been no other material adjustments to the statement of cash flows for the year 
ended 30 June 2007, on transition to NZ IFRS.
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APPENDIX TWO:  

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the RCCNZ, with MNZ’s 
traditional business activities.  Additional financial information, which does not form part of 
MNZ’s audited accounts, is provided in this appendix to give readers more detail of the cost of 
operating the RCCNZ. 
 

Statement of financial performance 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 

 MNZ RCCNZ GROUP 

 Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  

 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Income          

Revenue from Crown  5,189 5,187 4,689 3,274 3,274 3,274 8,463 8,461 7,963 

MSC revenue 14,325 13,599 13,426 - - - 14,325 13,599 13,426 

Interest revenue 432 303 387 40 41 70 472 344 457 

Other revenue 1,952 1,953 3,703 66 136 3 2,018 2,089 3,706 

Gains (1) 30 44 -- - - (1) 30 44 

Total income  21,897 21,072 22,249 3,380 3,451 3,347 25,277 24,523 25,596 

Expenditure          

Personnel costs 10,422 9,492 9,637 1,459 1,332 1,376 11,881 10,824 11,013 

Depreciation  1,519 1,654 1,170 263 383 354 1,782 2,037 1,524 

Capital charge 543 543 379 106 126 140 649 669 519 

Finance costs 7 - 8 1 - 1 8 - 9 

Other expenses 9,701 9,323 10,534 1,889 1,593 1,930 11,590 10,916 12,464 
Total expenditure 22,192 21,012 21,728 3,718 3,434 3,801 25,910 24,446 25,529 

Net surplus/(deficit) (295) 60 521 (338) 17 (454) (633) 77 67 

 

Statement of movements in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

 MNZ RCCNZ GROUP 

 Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  

 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July  10,625 9,707 7,071 1,417 1,295 1,871 12,042 11,002 8,942 
Amounts recognised 
directly in equity:          
Property, plant and 
equipment revaluation 
gains/(losses)  - - 648 - - - - - 648 
Surplus/(deficit) for the 
year (295) 60 521 (338) 17 (454) (633) 77 67 
Total recognised 
income and expenses (295) 60 1,169 (338) 17 (454) (633) 77 715 

Capital contribution 2,000 2,000 2,385 1,236 - - 3,236 2,000 2,385 

Balance at 30 June 12,330 11,767 10,625 2,315 1,312 1,417 14,645 13,079 12,042 
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Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2008 

 

 MNZ RCCNZ 

 Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  

 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Assets       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 1,827 2,183 3,173 1,689 524 458 

Debtors and other receivables 1,972 2,123 2,003 - - - 

Prepayments 104 55 86 128 125 93 

Inventories 282 272 291 - - - 

Investments 2,867 - - 285 - - 

Total current assets 7,052 4,633 5,553 2,102 649 551 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment 6,435 5,783 6,354 587 1,164 790 

Intangible assets 2,038 3,878 1,450 - - 359 

Total non-current assets 8,473 9,661 7,804 587 1,164 1,149 
 
Total assets 15,525 14,294 13,357 2,689 1,813 1,700 

       

Liabilities       

Current liabilities       

Creditors and other payables 2,356 1,967 1,945 274 285 210 

Employee entitlements 740 709 695 94 67 68 

Total current liabilities 3,096 2,676 2,640 368 352 278 
 
Non-current liabilities       

Provisions 99 - 92 6 - 5 

Total non-current liabilities 99 - 92 6 - 5 
 
Total liabilities 3,195 2,676 2,732 374 352 283 

Net assets 12,330 11,618 10,625 2,315 1,461 1,417 

       

Equity       

Crown contribution 8,238 7,682 6,238 3,108 1,376 1,872 

Retained earnings 3,444 3,288 3,739 (793) 85 (455) 

Revaluation reserve 648 648 648 - - - 

Total equity 12,330 11,618 10,625 2,315 1,461 1,417 
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ELIMINATIONS GROUP 

Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  

2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

      

      

- - - 3,516 2,707 3,631 

(69) (44) (51) 1,903 2,079 1,952 

- - - 232 180 179 

- - - 282 272 291 

- - - 3,152 - - 

(69) (44) (51) 9,085 5,238 6,053 

      

- - - 7,022 6,947 7,144 

- - - 2,038 3,878 1,809 

- - - 9,060 10,825 8,953 

(69) (44) (51) 118,145 16,063 15,006 

      

      

      

(69) (44) (51) 2,561 2,208 2,104 

- - - 834 776 763 

(69) (44) (51) 3,395 2,984 2,867 

      

- - - 105 - 97 

- - - 105 - 97 

(69) (44) (51) 33,500 2,984 2,964 

- - - 114,645 13,079 12,042 

      

      

- - - 11,346 9,058 8,110 

- - - 2,651 3,373 3,284 

- - - 648 648 648 

- - - 114,645 13,079 12,042 
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2008 
 

 MNZ RCCNZ GROUP 

 Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  Actual  Budget  Actual  

 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Cash flows from 
operating activities             
Receipts from Crown 
revenue  5,189 5,189 4,689 3,266 4,026 3,274 8,455 9,215 7,963 

Interest received 356 303 393 39 41 70 395 344 463 

Fees funding 15,311 13,292 16,336 - - - 15,311 13,292 16,336 
Receipts from other 
revenue 870 847 1,059 66 - 3 936 847 1,062 

Payments to suppliers (9,457) (9,021) (10,319) (1,962) (1,535) (1,910) (11,419) (10,556) (12,229) 
Payments for capital 
charge (543) (543) (378) (106) (126) (140) 

 
(649) (669) (518) 

Payments to 
employees (10,352) (9,216) (9,696) (1,377) (1,340) (1,370) (11,729) (10,556) (11,066) 
Goods and services 
tax (net) 231 84 (16) 61 (87) (11) 292 (3) (27) 
Net cash from 
operating activities 1,605 935 2,068 (13) 979 (84) 1,592 1,914 1,984 

          
Cash flows from 
investing activities          
Receipts from sale of 
property, plant and 
equipment 196 30 120 - - - 196 30 120 
Purchase of property, 
plant and equipment (2,105) (1,219) (2,811) 959 (140) (402) (1,146) (1,359) (3,213) 
Purchase of intangible 
assets (791) (1,827) (1,619) (50) (630) (8) (841) (2,457) (1,627) 

Investments (net) (2,252) - - (900) - - (3,152) - - 
Net cash from 
investing activities (4,952) (3,016) (4,310) 9 

 
(770) (410) (4,943) (3,786) (4,720) 

          
Cash flows from 
financing activities            

Capital contribution 2,000 2,000 2,385 1,236 - - 3,236 2,000 2,385 
Net cash from 
financing activities 2,000 2,000 2,385 1,236 - - 3,236 2,000 2,385 

          
Net (decrease)/ 
increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (1,347) (81) 143 1,232 209 (494) (115) 128 (351) 
Cash and cash 
equivalents at the start 
of the year 3,173 2,264 3,030 458 315 952 3,631 2,579 3,982 
Cash and cash 
equivalents at end of 
the year 1,827 2,183 3,173 1,689 524 458 3,516 2,707 3,631 

 



 115 

APPENDIX THREE: 

DELEGATIONS AND CONTRACTING OUT 
During 2007/08 a number of significant functions and powers of the Authority and the Director 
were delegated or contracted out, or agreements or memorandums of understanding entered 
into, these are listed below: 
 
The Authority has delegated the following operational activities to contractors by way of 
contracts for services: 
 
� A contract for services has been entered into with Kordia to provide high frequency and 

very high frequency distress and safety radio communications for shipping, effective from 
1 July 2004 until 30 June 2010. 

 

� A contract for the provision of maintenance services for the MNZ Maritime Distress and 
Safety Radio Network has been entered into with Downer Engineering Limited, effective 
from 1 July 2003 until 30 June 2008. 

 

� The issue of statutory certificates in respect of convention ships registered under the New 
Zealand flag has been delegated to the following classification societies: 

 

o American Bureau of Shipping 
o Bureau Veritas 
o Det Norske Veritas 
o Germanischer Lloyd 
o Lloyds Register. 

 

� The inspection of New Zealand pleasure craft departing for overseas has been delegated 
to Yachting New Zealand. 

 

� Approved SSM companies have been delegated the authority to issue SSM Certificates. 
 

� Harbourmasters have been delegated the power: 
o to set, conduct, and administer examinations and tests for the issue of pilot licences 

and master’s pilotage exemptions; and 
o to direct that a pilot be taken on board a ship in New Zealand waters in specified 

circumstances. 
 

� The enforcement of Section 198 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (regarding coastal 
shipping) has been delegated to the Secretary for Transport. 

 

� The power to conduct examinations of seafarers has been delegated to recognised 
examiners.  

 

� The power to issue maritime documents under Part 35 (Audits and Examinations) of the 
Maritime Rules has been delegated to a number of organisations. 

 
� The power to approve the erection or alteration of a navigational aid in the Marlborough 

District, under Section 200(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994 has been delegated to 
Alex van Wijngaarden as Harbourmaster, Marlborough District Council. 

 
The Authority has also delegated the following activities associated with the protection of the 
marine environment: 
 

� A contract for services has been entered into with Massey University for the preparedness 
and response capability to respond to oiled marine wildlife arising from certain Tier 2 and 
all Tier 3 marine oil spills. 

 
� The power to investigate marine oil spills within the coastal marine area has been 

delegated to specified persons in regional councils. 
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� The power to approve and monitor oil transfer site marine oil spill contingency plans has 
been delegated to the chief executive officers of regional councils. 

 
The following contracts have been entered into with persons and organisations outside the 
Authority in relation to the provision of services relating to Output Class: Class III Maritime 
Search and Rescue: 
 
� EMS Pacific Pty Limited Maintenance Services Agreement for the maintenance of the 

COSPAS-SARSAT Local User Terminal (facilities installed in the RCCNZ).  
 

� EMS Pacific Pty Limited Software Subscription/Support Services Agreement for the 
software support of the COSPAS-SARSAT Local User Terminal.  

 

� Australian Maritime Safety Authority Agreement in respect of the operation of the Local 
User Terminal. 

 

� Life Flight Trust agreement to supply medical advice.  
 
Administration of the MNZ Staff Superannuation Scheme has been contracted to Tower Group 
Services Limited. 
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APPENDIX FOUR: 

STATUTORY FUNCTIONS 

MNZ statutory functions 
The objective of MNZ as prescribed in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 is to: 
 

“undertake its safety, security, marine protection, and other functions in a way that 
contributes to the aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive, and sustainable transport 
system.”  (s430) 

 
Section 431 of the Maritime Transport Act sets out MNZ’s functions as: 
 
S431(1) 
� to promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment in New 

Zealand 
 

� to promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment beyond 
New Zealand in accordance with New Zealand’s international obligations 

 

� to ensure the provision of appropriate distress and safety radio communication systems 
and navigational aids for shipping 

 

� to ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil pollution 
spills 

 

� to license ships, their operation and their crews 
 

� to co-operate with, or to provide advice and assistance to, any government agency or 
local government agency when requested to do so by the Minister, but only if the Minister 
and the Authority are satisfied that the performance of the Authority’s functions and duties 
will not be compromised 

 

� to provide information and advice with respect to maritime transport and marine 
protection, and to foster appropriate information education programmes with respect to 
maritime transport and marine protection, that promote its objective 

 

� to investigate and review maritime transport accidents and incidents and maritime security 
breaches and incidents 

 

� to maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships 
 

� to maintain and preserve records and documents relating to the Authority’s functions 
 

� to advise the Minister on technical maritime safety policy 
 

� to perform such other functions as are conferred on it by this Act or any other Act. 
 

S431(2)  
� The Authority shall carry out such other maritime functions, and such maritime duties, as 

the Minister may from time to time prescribe by notice in the Gazette. 
S431(3) 
� The Authority must, if directed by the Minister under Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 

1990, do any or all of the following: 
 
� maintain and operate the SAR co-ordination centre established under Section 14B(1)(a) of 

the Civil Aviation Act 1990 
 

� co-ordinate, or participate in the co-ordination of, any SAR operation specified in Section 
14B(1)(a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990 
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� perform, or participate in the co-ordination of, any search and rescue operation specified 
in Section 14B(1)(a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990 

 

� exercise any or all of the powers of the Minister under Section 14B(1)(b) and (c) and 
Section 14B(2) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990. 

 
These functions are delivered within the context of the NZTS and through a culture of 
collaboration amongst government transport sector agencies. This means that wherever 
possible, a sector wide approach to policy and other issues is taken. 
 

Conventions 
MNZ has obligations delegated to it under the Performance Agreement with the Minister of 
Transport. 
 
In respect of the International Maritime Organisation (IMO), those responsibilities of a specifically 
technical or safety regulatory nature, related to the prevention of marine pollution: 
 
� International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea, 1974 and the 1978 Protocol; 

acceded to by New Zealand on 23 February 1990 

� Convention on the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972; ratified 
by New Zealand on 26 November 1976 

� International Convention on Load Lines, 1966; ratified by New Zealand on 5 February 
1970 

� International Convention on Tonnage Measurement of Ships, 1969; ratified by New 
Zealand on 6 January 1978 

� International Convention for Safe Containers, 1972; acceded to by New Zealand on 23 
December 1974 

� International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for 
Seafarers, 1978 as amended in 1995; acceded to by New Zealand on 30 July 1986 

� International Convention on Maritime Search and Rescue, 1979; ratified by New Zealand 
on 26 April 1985 

� Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and other Matter, 
1972 (the London Convention); ratified by New Zealand on 30 April 1975 

� International Convention Relating to Intervention on the High Seas in Cases of Oil Pollution 
Casualties, 1969; acceded to by New Zealand on 26 March 1975 

� Convention on the International Maritime Satellite Organisation (INMARSAT), 1976; 
definitive signature by New Zealand on 17 August 1977 

� Convention for the Protection of Submarine Cables, 1984; acceded to by New Zealand on 
23 September 1988 

� International Convention on Civil Liability for oil pollution damage 1969, acceded to by 
New Zealand in 1976 (CLC); and its 1992 Protocol, acceded to by New Zealand on 25 
June 1999 

� International Convention on the establishment of an International Fund for Compensation 
for Oil Pollution Damage, 1971 (Fund Convention), acceded to by New Zealand on 22 
November 1996; and its 1992 Protocol, acceded to by New Zealand on 25 June 1999 

� International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships 1973 and the 1978 
Protocol (MARPOL) 

� International Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Cooperation, 1990 

� 1996 Protocol to the London Convention 1972. 
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In respect of the International Labour Convention (ILO): 
 
� Unemployment Indemnity (Shipwreck) 1920 (No. 8) 

� Placing of Seamen Convention 1920 (No. 9) 

� Minimum Age (Trimmers and Stokers) 1921 (No. 15) 

� Medical Examination of Young Persons (Sea) Convention 1921 (No. 16) 

� Seamen's Articles of Agreement Convention 1926 (No. 22) 

� Repatriation of Seamen's Convention 1926 (No. 23) 

� Officers Competency Certificate Convention 1936 (No. 53) 

� Minimum Age (Sea) Convention (Revised) 1936 (No. 58) 

� Food and Catering (Ship's Crew) Convention 1946 (No. 68) 

� Certification of Ships Cooks Convention 1946 (No. 69) 

� Certification of Able Seamen Convention 1946 (No. 74) 

� Accommodation of Crews Convention (Revised) 1949 (No. 92) 

� Accommodation of Crews (Supplementary Provisions) Convention 1970 (No. 133) 

� Prevention of Accidents (Seafarers) Convention 1970 (No. 134) 

� Continuity of Employment (Seafarers) Convention 1976 (No. 145). 

 
The New Zealand Government’s obligations in relation to combating marine oil spill pollution 
emergencies under the 1986 Convention for the Protection of the Natural Resources and 
Environment of the South Pacific Region. 
 

Health and safety in employment objectives 
The Prime Minister, in May 2003, acting pursuant to Section 28B of the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act 1992 and having regard to the specialist knowledge of relevant agencies, 
designated MNZ (at that time the Maritime Safety Authority) to administer this Act for the 
maritime sector, specifically for ships. The scope of the designation is for work on board ships 
and for ships as places of work. 
 
MNZ has entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the Department of Labour which 
provides that the Parties work co-operatively to: 
� ensure safe and healthy people and workplaces 

� co-ordinate the application of health and safety legislation to avoid overlaps and gaps in 
coverage and to promote efficiency 

� provide a seamless, responsive and consistent service 

� maintain an open relationship to promote and produce optimal results for workplace health 
and safety in New Zealand. 
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Maritime security objectives 
The Maritime Security Act 2004 has as its purposes: 
 
� to enable New Zealand to meet its maritime security obligations under the Safety of Life at 

Sea Convention 

� to enhance ship and port security 

� to prevent international terrorism. 

 
MNZ, as the Designated Authority under the Act, has as its principal objectives to ensure that: 
 
� the Chief Executive undertakes the activities that the Designated Authority considers 

necessary for the effective implementation of the International Ship and Port Facility 
Security Code 

� its decisions and the actions of the Chief Executive are consistent with the Safety or Life at 
Sea Convention and the Code. 

Search and rescue objectives 
Pursuant to Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990 MNZ has assumed responsibility for 
providing Class III search and rescue on a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week basis. These 
services are:  
 
� provision in the New Zealand SAR region of 24/7 SAR co-ordination services for Class III 

SAR operations for persons in distress or in need of assistance, such services to meet or 
exceed New Zealand’s obligations under any applicable international agreements 

� co-ordination of all persons, organisations, and government departments as necessary to 
provide the required Class III SAR operations 

� operation of the Local User Terminal 

� communication with and education of persons, organisations and government 
departments to minimise the need for and to improve and facilitate Class III SAR 
operations 

� provision of sufficient adequately skilled staff to ensure the SAR co-ordination services are 
available 24/7 

� establishment and adoption of procedures to ensure the effective co-ordination of Class III 
SAR operations 

� log and record all activities associated with the co-ordination of Class III SAR operations 

� completion of a report for each suspended Class III SAR operation and such other reports 
as are requested by stakeholders 

� provision of a person or persons to attend and represent New Zealand’s interests at 
international forums on search and rescue 

� provision of appropriate training for personnel involved in providing Class III SAR co-
ordination operations 

� maintenance of the national 406MHz distress beacon register 

� arranging the provision of medical advice, initial medical assistance, or medical evacuation 
if required, for persons in distress within the New Zealand SAR region. 
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 APPENDIX FIVE: GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
 
406 beacon An emergency position indicating radio beacon (EPIRB) operating at a 

406MHz frequency. 
Catastrophic spill A large-scale spill for which the timing and location will be impossible to 

predict and which will have severe environmental consequences. The 
overall response to such a spill is likely to be beyond New Zealand's 
domestic capability and international assistance may be needed; or 
large-scale spill due to unusual conditions, which is likely to have 
devastating consequences, and where the likelihood of occurrence is 
impossible to predict. 

Exclusive economic 
zone (EEZ) 

All marine waters from the outer edge of the Territorial Sea (12 nautical 
miles) seawards for 188 nautical miles until the 200 nautical mile limit. 

FishSAFE An industry-led body focused on improving safety outcomes in the 
commercial fishing fleet. 

Flag state State (country) in which the vessel is registered. 
Incident Command 
Centre (ICC) 
 

The forward response operation command centre that accommodates 
the Incident Command Team. In the case of a Tier 3 response, the 
Command Centre may be the Tier 1 or Tier 2 Command Centre as 
defined by the respective Tier 1 or Tier 2 Plan or any other suitable 
location defined by NOSC. 

International Safety 
Management Code 

This Code is concerned with the procedures whereby a ship is managed, 
both on board and on shore, rather than laying down specific rules as to 
the technical condition of the ship itself (technical rules are dealt with in a 
host of other Conventions).  
The Code is drafted in broad terms and lays down a set of general 
principles, of widespread application to all types of ships and owners. It 
sets a number of safety management objectives and requires that 
companies develop, implement and maintain a written safety 
management system covering a whole range of safety, environment and 
related matters. 

International Ship 
and Port Security 
Code (ISPS) 

International Maritime Organization framework for implementing maritime 
security measures. 

Long range 
identification and 
tracking 

A robust international scheme for long-range identification and tracking 
of ships to enhance security, by providing ship identity and current 
location information to evaluate the security risk posed by a ship. 

Marine oil spill 
 

Means the actual or probable release, discharge, or escape of oil into the 
internal waters of New Zealand or New Zealand marine waters (refer 
section 281 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994). 

Marine protection 
rules 

Rules made by the MoT for the purpose of protecting the marine 
environment (Section 2 MTA 1994). 

Maritime rules 
 

Maritime rules relate to the safety and security of ships and people. The 
rules prescribe requirements for ship design, construction, equipment, 
crewing, operation and tonnage measurement, and for the carriage of 
passengers and cargoes. Many of the standards are based on 
international ship safety conventions. 

MARPOL 
Convention 

The International Convention for Prevention of Pollution from Ships 1973 
and its 1978 Protocol. 

National Marine Oil 
Spill Contingency 
Plan 

The marine oil spill response plan produced by the Director of MNZ, and 
sometimes referred to as the National Plan. 

Navigational aids Lights, beacons, and buoys. 
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New Zealand 
continental waters 

Includes New Zealand marine waters and those waters beyond the outer 
limit of the exclusive economic zone of New Zealand but over the 
continental shelf of New Zealand. 

New Zealand marine 
waters 

Includes the territorial sea of New Zealand and the waters of the 
exclusive economic zone of New Zealand. 

New Zealand Port 
and Harbour Safety 
Code 

A code that aims to promote good practice in the conduct of safe marine 
operations in ports and harbours. It represents the national standard 
against which the policies, procedures and performance of regional 
councils, port companies, MNZ and other relevant parties may be 
measured. 

New Zealand 
Register of Ships 

A record of all ships registered in New Zealand. 

New Zealand waters 
 

The territorial sea of New Zealand; the internal waters of New Zealand; 
and all rivers and other inland waters of New Zealand. (Section 2 MTA 
1994).  

Oil Pollution Fund 
 

A statutory fund that receives its income from the Oil Pollution Levy. It is 
used to provide money for New Zealand’s preparations for oil spill 
response and to meet the costs of clean up where no spiller can be 
found to meet the costs. 

Oil Pollution Levy 
 

A differential levy imposed on all vessels that carry oil as either cargo 
(tankers) or as fuel, according to a formula based on the risk of an oil spill 
from their particular operation. Some offshore installations also pay a set 
levy based on their risk factor.  

Oil spill response 
 

Actions taken to confirm the presence of an oil spill, stop its flow from 
the source, contain it, collect it, protect areas from damage by it, 
mitigate its effects on the environment, and clean up wildlife and areas 
contaminated by it. It is the entire process by which a marine oil spill is 
managed, including response planning, set-up, clean up and termination. 

Output classes A group of similar outputs, or those that can be logically grouped 
together for appropriation purposes. 

Pleasure craft 
 

Means a ship that is used exclusively for the owner’s pleasure or as the 
owner’s residence, and is not offered or used for hire or reward; but 
does not include: 

� a ship that is provided for transport or sport or recreation by or on 
behalf of any institution, hotel, motel, place of entertainment, or 
other establishment or business 

� a ship that is used on any voyage for pleasure if it is normally used 
or intended to be normally used as a fishing ship or for the 
carriage of passengers or cargo for hire or reward 

� a ship that is operated or provided by any club, incorporated 
society, trust, or business. 

(Section 2 MTA 1994). 
Regional Marine Oil 
Spill Contingency 
Plan 

A marine oil spill contingency plan prepared by a regional council and 
approved by the Director of MNZ under Section 292 of the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994. It is sometimes referred to as a regional plan. 

Safe Operational 
Plan 

A Safe Operational Plan is a scaled down version of Safe Ship 
Management. It is aimed at providing a practical and affordable set of 
safety requirements for small boats. 

Safe Ship 
Management (SSM) 

SSM is a safety management system for commercial vessels that 
ensures that vessel are maintained and operated safely throughout the 
year. 

Search and Rescue 
– Category I 

A search and rescue that comes under control of NZ Police and are 
primarily “local operations”. 
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Search and Rescue 
– Category II 

A search and rescue operation that is associated with: 

� activated emergency locator transmitters 

� a missing or distressed aircraft 

� a missing or distressed surface vessel requiring the use of national 
of international civil or military resources, or co-ordination with 
other States; or 

� an operation that began as a Category I search and rescue but 
where responsibility has transferred by mutual agreement from the 
NZ Police to the RCCNZ. 

Seafarer 
 

Any person who: 

� is employed or engaged on any ship in any capacity for hire or 
reward; or 

� works on a ship for gain or reward otherwise than under contract 
of employment; but 

� does not include a pilot or any person temporarily employed on a 
ship while it is in port. 

(Section 2 MTA 1994) 
Ship 
 

Means every description of boat or craft used in navigation, whether or 
not it has any means of propulsion; and includes: 
a barge, lighter, or other vessel 
a hovercraft or other thing deriving full or partial support in the 
atmosphere from the reaction of air against the surface of the water over 
which it operates 
a submarine or other submersible. 
(Section 2 MTA 1994). 

SOLAS ship 
 

Means any ship to which the International Convention for the Safety of 
Life at Sea 1974(SOLAS) applies, namely: 
a passenger ship engaged on an international voyage; or 
a non-passenger ship of 500 tons or more engaged on an international 
voyage. 
(Part 20, Maritime Rules). 

Tabletop exercise A simulated interactive exercise that helps to test the capability of an 
organisation to respond to a simulated event. 

Tier 1 response (oil 
spill) 
 

Responsibility lies with ships, offshore installations, and transfer sites. 
Site specific and includes most shore-side industry with oil transfer sites, 
offshore installations, and all vessels required to have a shipboard plan. 
All Tier 1 sites and vessels are expected to plan for and be able to 
provide a clearly identifiable first response to pollution incidents for which 
they are responsible. 
(National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan, March 2006). 

Tier 2 response (oil 
spill) 

Responsibility lies with regional councils. 
Regional councils, which are expected to plan for and respond to marine 
oil spills within their part of the Territorial Sea (12 nautical miles) where 
the spills exceed the clean-up capability of Tier 1, or for which no 
responsible party can be identified. 
(National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan, March 2006) 

Tier 3 response (oil 
spill) 

Responsibility lies with MNZ – also involves spills that may require 
international assistance (spills > 7500). 
MNZ, which manages the National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan for 
spills within a region which are beyond the resources of the region, or 
which occur within the EEZ, but outside regional council boundaries. 
(National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan, March 2006). 

Vessel 
 

Means a ship or a seaplane while it is on the surface of the water  
(Part 22, Maritime Rules). 
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APPENDIX SIX: DIRECTORY 

Wellington office 
Level 10, Optimation House, 
1 Grey Street 
PO Box 27-006 
Wellington 6141  
Phone: +64 4 473-0111 
Toll free info line: 0508 22 55 22 
Fax +64 4 494-1263 
www.maritimenz.govt.nz 
 

District offices 
WHANGAREI 
Manaia House 
Rathbone Street 
PO Box 472 
Whangarei 0140 
Phone: +64 9 438 1909 
Fax:     +64 9 438 1909 
 

AUCKLAND 
20 Augustus Terrace 
Level 2, Suite 6 
Parnell 
PO Box 624 
Auckland 1052 
Phone: +64 9 307 1370 
Fax:     +64 9 309 3573 
 

TAURANGA 
Suite 3, Nikau House 
27-33 Nikau Crescent 
Mount Maunganui 
PO Box 5288 
Mount Maunganui 3150 
Phone: +64 7 575 2079 
Fax:     +64 7 575 2083 
 

NEW PLYMOUTH 
Hutchen Place 
Port of Taranaki 
PO Box 6094 
New Plymouth 4344 
Phone: +64 6 751 3131 
Fax:      +64 6 751 4097 
 

NAPIER 
NZWTA Building 
Cnr Lever & Bridge Streets 
PO Box 12012 
Ahuriri 
Napier 4144 
Phone: +64 6 835 4889 
Fax:     +64 6 831 0008 

NELSON 
Shipping House 
36 Graham Street 
PO Box 5015 
Port Nelson 
Nelson 7043 
Phone: +64 3 548 2434 
Fax:  +64 3 548 2998 
 

PICTON 
Mariners Mall 
PO Box 301 
Picton 7250 
Phone:  +64 3 520 3068 
Fax:  +64 3 520 3068 
 

LYTTELTON 
Level 1 
Shipping Services Building 
Norwich Quay 
PO Box 17 
Lyttelton 8841 
Phone: +64 3 328 8734 
Fax:  +64 3 328 9423 
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DUNEDIN 
1 Birch Street 
PO Box 1272 
Dunedin 9054 
Phone:  +64 3 477 4055 
Fax:  +64 3 477 9121 
 

BLUFF 
72 Gore Street 
Bluff  
PO Box 1709 
Invercargill 9840 
Phone:  +64 3 212 8958 
Fax:  +64 3 212 8578 
 

 
Marine Pollution Response Centre 

755 Te Atatu Road North 
PO Box 45209 
Te Atatu  
Auckland 0651 
Phone:  +64 9 834 3908 
Fax:      +64 9 834 3907 
 
 

Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand 

Avalon TV Studios 
PO Box 30050 
Lower Hutt 5040 
Phone:  +64 4 577 8030  
Fax:  +64 4 577 8041  
 
 

Auditors 

Audit New Zealand 
Wellington 
On behalf of the Auditor-General  
 
 

Insurance brokers 

Aon Risk Services (NZ) Limited 
Wellington 
 


